
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 07895 213740 
 

 

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 24 December 2021 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 12 JANUARY 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
 

FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ 
 
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a 
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a 
headset/headphones. 

 

Members of the Committee: 

David Bretherton (Chair) 

Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair) 
Ken Arlett 
Tim Bearder 
Victoria Haval 

Elizabeth Gillespie 
Lorraine Hillier 
Axel Macdonald 
Jo Robb 

Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 

 
Substitutes 

vacancy 
Celia Wilson 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
Stefan Gawrysiak 

Alexandrine Kantor 
Mocky Khan 
Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 

Sue Roberts 
David Turner 
Kellie Hinton 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Chair's announcements   
 

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 
 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 
 
3  Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 7 - 20) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on Wednesday 27 October 2021 and Wednesday 3 November 2021. 
 
4  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.    
 
5  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered 
as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters 
urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or withdrawn. 

 
6  Proposals for site visits   

 
7  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   
 

Development control applications 

 
 

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information 

 
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number.  
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 



  3 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page 

 
     
8  Land to the 

rear of 60-66 
High Street, 
Chalgrove   

Demolition of garage block. Erection 
of a pair of single storey 2-bed 
dwellings to the rear of 60-66 High 
St, Chalgrove, as amplified by SAP 
information received on 14 June 
2021, as amplified by drainage 
strategy and flood risk assessment 
received 10 August 2021. 

P21/S1638/FUL 21 - 34 

 

     
9  Land between 

The Plough 
House and 
Frogmore, 
Stadhampton 
Road, Little 
Milton   

Replacement access (as amended 
by updated description on the 20th 
of October 2021 and amended plans 
on the 25th of November 2021). 

P21/S2860/FUL 35 - 48 

 

     
10  Three 

Horseshoes, 
Chinnor Road, 
Towersey   

Application P20/S3379/FUL 
Conversion of outbuilding to a 
dwelling utilising existing access, 
with associated landscaping and 
parking (As per amended plans and 
supporting information submitted 3 
November 2020) (As per additional 
and amended drainage details 
submitted 8 December 2020). 
 
Application P21/S2504/LB 
Change of Use of existing 
outbuilding (Sui Generis) to provide 
one dwelling (Use Class C3) utilising 
existing access, with associated 
landscaping and parking (as per 
amended plans showing the removal 
all rooflights and the relocation of the 
internal doorway which connects the 
main barn to the smaller outbuilding, 
submitted 9 August 2021), (as per 
amended plans to include the 
provision of two times small 
domestic outbuildings and patio 
area, submitted 6 September 2021), 
(as per flood resilience strategy and 
updated heritage statement 
submitted 23 November 2021). 

P20/S3379/FUL 
and 
P21/S2504/LB 

49 - 
100 

 

     
11  3 King's Road, 

Thame   
Single storey extension to rear of 
property and new wall to part of 
boundary. 

P21/S4226/HH 101 - 
112 

 



  4 

 

     
12  Yew Tree 

House, The 
Street, Ewelme   

Extension & remodelling works. P21/S4280/HH 113 - 
126 

 



  5 

 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 27 OCTOBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

An ‘In Person’ meeting which was also broadcast 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Alexandrine Kantor (substituting for Victoria 
Havel), Axel Macdonald, Ian Snowdon and Alan Thompson 
 
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox 
 

Remote attendance:  
 
Councillors: Sam Casey-Rerhaye and Sue Roberts 
 
Officers: Sharon Crawford, Kim Gould and Susie Royse 
 

11 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed at an 
in-person person meeting and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

12 Apologies for absence  
 
Councillor Jo Robb gave apologies for absence and was substituted by Councillor Sam 
Casey-Rerhaye. 
 
The democratic services officer reported that the leader of the council had appointed 
Councillor Victoria Havel to the vacant position on the committee. Councillor Havel was 
substituted by Councillor Alexandrine Kantor. 
 

13 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

14 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 2 

15 Proposals for site visits  
 
There were no proposals for site visits. 
 

16 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee by the democratic services officer prior to the meeting. 
 

17 P21/S2637/FUL - Land at 4 Ernest Road, Didcot  
 
The committee considered application P21/S2637/FUL for a proposed new dwelling (as 
amplified by energy statement received 31 August 2021) on land at 4 Ernest Road, Didcot.  
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that a site visit by members of the committee had taken 
place at the location on Monday 25 October 2021. The proposal entailed a single storey 
dwelling of modern design, in part of the rear garden of an existing semi-detached house, 
with an integral garage and car port, pitched roofs and timber cladding. The committee 
was advised that permitted development rights at this site could allow for a dwelling of a 
similar size. It was considered that the impacts of the proposed development would be 
mainly at the rear boundary, bordering Edmond Court, where the development would be 
visible, but with no direct overlooking from it. Council officers contended that there would 
not be a material level of harm to neighbouring properties.  
 
Councillor Eleanor Hards, a representative of Didcot Town Council, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
Mr. James Adams, a local resident, at 2A Ernest Road, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
A statement from Nina Phillips, a local resident, had been sent to the committee by the 
democratic services officer prior to the meeting. 
 
The committee sought clarification regarding whether the proposal represented a one or 
two-bedroom property. The planning officer replied that the plans with the application 
indicated one bedroom. However, the depicted ‘study room’ could be used as a bedroom, 
if the occupier so chose. The report to the committee acknowledged possible use as a 
two-bedroom dwelling. The planning officer advised the committee that the South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide set out the minimum amount of private amenity space (i.e., rear 
garden) based on the number bedrooms the property had; 1 bedroom units should provide 
for 35m2, and 50m2 for two bedroom units. The rear garden of the proposed dwelling 
allowed for 55m2, which exceeded provision for a two bedroom dwelling.  
 
The planning officer drew the committee’s attention to paragraph 6.22 of the report. In 
respect of this application, Didcot Town Council has raised the concern that by creating a 
dwelling and access onto Edmond Court, it would reduce the ability to park on the 
highway. The planning officer made an analogous reference to a similar matter being 
raised previously for another dwelling in Didcot, which had been the subject of an appeal. 
Here the planning inspector had allowed the development and awarded costs against the 
council to the applicant on the grounds of ‘unreasonableness’.  In the view of council 

Page 8



 3 

officers, this was not a reason to resist this development. Additionally, the area affected at 
Edmond Court by the proposed access was used for manoeuvring rather than for parking. 
 
The committee was concerned about ecological aspects of the proposal. With reference to 
paragraph 6.17 of the report, it noted that policy ENV3 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
(SOLP) stated that development should not result in a net loss of biodiversity and should 
result in a net gain. The proposal would in fact result in the loss of some garden land. The 
report stated that in ecological terms, the impact was not likely to be significant. However, 
a condition was proposed to ensure the provision of a bird box on the new dwelling, 
providing a net gain required by Policy ENV3. The committee took the view that the 
provision of a bird box was inadequate compensation for the loss of garden tree cover. In 
response to a question, the planning officer confirmed that a landscaping condition could 
be added to ensure a suitable replacement tree. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission failed on being put to the 
vote. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: that planning permission for application P21/S2637/FUL is refused for the 
following reasons; 
 

1. Out of keeping with local character, owing to size and proximity to neighbours’ 
boundaries. 

2. Oppressive and unneighbourly, especially to Edmond Court residents. 
3. Reduction in quality of neighbours’ amenity space. 

 

18 P21/S3669/FUL - Land opposite Whitecross House, Winterbrook  
 
The committee considered application P21/3669/FUL for the erection of a dwelling 
(amended scheme pursuant to extant consent P20/S0912/FUL), as clarified by site survey 
submitted on 15 September 2021, on land opposite Whitecross House, Winterbrook 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that planning permission had been granted for a single 
dwelling on this site earlier in 2021. This permission remained extant and therefore the 
principle of erecting a single dwelling on this site had been established. The application 
had not attracted any neighbour objections. 
 
An arboricultural report had been submitted with the application, which demonstrated that 
the proposed development did not require the pruning or removal of any trees which were 
protected by a tree preservation order. The council’s forestry officer had no objection to the 
proposal and had commented that the current layout was an improvement when compared 
to the extant scheme from an arboricultural perspective, as the proposed dwelling was 
located further from the protected trees. Tree protection and landscape conditions were 
recommended to the committee. Since the grant of planning permission, some trees had 
been removed from the site. The forestry officer had visited the site and the countryside 
officer had no objection to the removal, which had not involved protected trees. The 
removal had followed correct procedure. Proposals for replacement trees would be 
included in the landscaping plan. 

Page 9



 4 

 
The planning officer also reported that the development was designed not to have a 
significant adverse impact on neighbour amenity. There was existing vegetation along the 
boundary with the care home and all first-floor windows in the proposed new dwelling 
which would face the care home would be either obscure glazed, serving bathrooms or set 
at high level, to avoid any direct overlooking.  
 
Ms. Louise Harris, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. Ms. Harris made 
particular reference to policy DES10, relating to carbon reduction, and advised the 
committee that the dwelling would incorporate solar power sources and wool insulation, 
with energy recycling measures and utilisation of heat pumps. The planning officer 
reported that policy DES8 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) sought to ensure 
that all new development minimised the carbon and energy impacts of their design and 
construction. Proposals should demonstrate that they were seeking to limit greenhouse 
emissions through location, building orientation and design. Policy DES9 encouraged 
schemes for renewable and low energy generation and associated infrastructure. Policy 
DES10 required new dwellings to achieve at least a 40% reduction in carbon emissions 
compared with a code 2013 Building Regulations compliant base case. Council officers 
considered this development proposal to be sustainable.  
 
Councillor Sue Roberts, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
In response to a question regarding further information in respect of measures relating to 
the term ‘ecology’, the planning officer responded that proposed condition 10 would deal 
with this issue in detail. The committee noted that the site had been subject to ecological 
surveys in 2019 and update surveys in 2021. These surveys had been considered by the 
council’s ecologist, who did not consider that the ecological status of the site had changed 
since permission was originally granted. That officer had raised no objection to the 
proposal on ecology grounds, subject to a condition which required a biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement strategy to be submitted prior to the commencement of 
development. 
 
In response to a question regarding mitigation and the installation of bird and bat boxes, 
the planning officer confirmed that the proposed planning conditions would be altered to 
include these items. 
 
The planning officer concluded by stating that planning permission was recommended, as 
the principle of a dwelling on this site was acceptable. The contemporary design of the 
proposal was considered to represent a high quality and sustainable development, which 
would maintain the character of the site and would not appear prominent or out of keeping 
with the surrounding area. The scheme was not unneighbourly and was acceptable in 
terms of the highway impact, ecology issues and impact on protected trees. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: that planning permission is granted for application P21/3669/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions: 
 
1.    Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2.    Approved plans  
3.    Sample materials required (walls and roof) 
4.    New vehicular access  

Page 10



 5 

5.    Vision splay protection  
6.    Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained  
7.    No Garage conversion into accommodation 
8.    Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only) 
9.    Tree Protection (Detailed) 
10.  Ecology 
11.  Surface Water Drainage scheme 
12.  Foul Water Drainage scheme 
 

19 P21/S2102/FUL - 153 Thame Road, Warborough  
 
The committee considered application P21/S2102/FUL for the demolition of the existing 
single storey dwelling and replace with one detached dwelling and associated parking (as 
amended by drawings received 16 June 2021) at 153 Thame Road, Warborough. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that this proposal was for the replacement of a bungalow 
with a single dwelling. Planning permission to demolish the existing dwelling and replace it 
with an oak-framed two-storey detached dwelling had been granted in 2014, but had not 
been implemented, and had consequently lapsed. Planning permission to demolish the 
existing dwelling and replace it with a development comprising a one 3-bedroom dwelling 
and a 4-bedroom dwelling, had recently been refused. In the view of the planning officer, 
this present proposal for a single dwelling would benefit from a garden and a relationship 
where it would not be dominated by protected trees, which was the case with the previous 
application. Also, the plans in respect of this proposal had been amended to alter part of 
the driveway to protect trees, which the forestry officer had supported. The county council, 
as highways authority, had confirmed that access and parking arrangements were 
satisfactory. Council officers considered that the proposed development was acceptable in 
the context of the green belt and conservation area.  
 
In response to a question regarding the weight of previous local plans, compared with new 
ones, the planning officer reported that policies in respect of Warborough had not 
changed, and that planning permission previously being given at this site was a material 
consideration. In this case, a new dwelling would replace an existing dwelling. 
 
In response to a question regarding ecology on the site, the planning officer reported that 
policy ENV3 of SOLP related to biodiversity. The policy stated that planning permission 
would only be granted if impacts on biodiversity could be avoided, mitigated or 
compensated fully. The planning officer reported that the application was supported by a 
preliminary ecological appraisal for bats. This had detailed that the existing dwelling had 
very low potential for roosting bats and that no further surveys were required. Subject to a 
planning condition being imposed requiring the provision of bird boxes, the development 
would accord with policy ENV3. 
 
In response to a question of the possible impact of the development upon neighbours’ light 
levels, the senior planning officer reported that she had discussed this issue at an early 
stage with the case officer, when the Warborough Parish Council had objected, and had 
concluded that the impact of the revised scheme was acceptable, resulting in a slightly 
better relationship with neighbours. The lack of neighbour objections was possibly an 
indication of the application’s acceptability. 
 

Page 11



 6 

The planning officer concluded by stating that the proposal involved the replacement of a 
dwelling within the built confines of the village. It was acceptable in the context of both 
housing and green belt policy. The application was recommended for the grant of planning 
permission as the proposal was considered not to cause harm to the conservation area, 
highway safety or materially harm the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 
The impact on protected trees was acceptable when considered in the context of the 
required tree protection condition. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: that planning permission is granted for application P21/S2102/FUL, subject 
to the following conditions: 
 
Standard conditions 
1.    Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2.    Approved plans  
 
Pre-commencement conditions 
3.   Tree protection 
4.   Surface water drainage works (details required) 
Conditions which require approval once development is above slab level 
5.   Boundary walls & fences 
6.   Schedule of Materials 
 
Pre-occupation conditions 
7.   Energy Statement Verification 
8.   New vehicular access  
9.   Vision splay dimensions  
10. Reduce Gravel Spread onto Highway 
11. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained  
 
Compliance conditions 
12.  Electric charging point details 
13.  Bird Box 
 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 7.35 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 12



 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 3 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Alexandrine Kantor (substituting for 
Councillor Havel) Jo Robb, Ian Snowdon and Alan Thompson  
 
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox  
 

Remote attendance:  
 
Councillors: Maggie Filipova-Rivers  
Officers: Andy Heron, Simon Kitson, Marc Pullen, Tom Wyatt and Susie Royse 
 
 

20 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and 
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

21 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Victoria Havel and Axel Macdonald. 
Councillor Alexandrine Kantor substituted for Councillor Havel. 
 

22 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 
20 July 2021 as a correct record and agree that the Chairman sign these 
as such. 
 
Councillor Snowdon pointed out that the minute relating to Land at Former 
Didcot ‘A’ power Station (P21/S0274/FUL) omitted to provide details about 
the discussion relating to diesel generators. 
 

23 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 2 

24 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

25 Proposals for site visits  
 
There were no proposals for site visits. 
 

26 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting. 
 

27 P20/S4706/FUL - Land to the west of Wallingford Road, adjacent to 
sewage works, between Goring and South Stoke  
 
The committee considered application P20/S4706/FUL for temporary planning permission 
for 25 years for the development and operation of a Transitional Hybrid Energy Project and 
associated infrastructure including access (2021-08-16 Amended Plans to extend red line, 
include additional landscaping and landscape details and temporary construction 
compound, and additional landscape and air quality details submitted 20/04/21 and 
21/05/21) on land to the west of Wallingford Road, adjacent to sewage works between 
Goring and South Stoke. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer reported that the application had been called in by the local ward 
councillor on the basis of visual impact, development within the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and effect upon community amenity.  The application 
was for temporary planning permission for a transitional hybrid energy project, designed to 
provide standby electricity from four containerised gas-powered generators in connection 
with transitions to renewable power sources at larger stations.  The site at present could 
only be seen from the south of Goring and was screened to the north and west. 
The committee were shown slides of the site’s location, as presently viewed, and with 
projected landscaping at one- and 15-years’ maturity. A slide depicting the bund viewed 
from the south, and images of the site viewed from the Wallingford Road, were also shown 
to the committee.  The planning officer also reported that the application had received no 
objections from technical officers and statutory consultees, including the Chilterns 
Conservation Board. 
 
Councillor Sonia Lofthouse, a representative of Goring on Thames Parish Council, spoke 
objecting to the application. 
 
Councillor Andrew Scrivener, a representative of South Stoke Parish Council, spoke 
objecting to the application. 
 
Mr. Paul Jenkins, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. In response to a 
question from the committee regarding his suitability to make a comment on the merits of 
the application, Mr. Jenkins declared that he was a qualified electrical engineer and a 
fellow of the institute of engineering and technology and a professional in the field for 35 
years. In his view, the assumptions taken to justify the development were incorrect, 

Page 14



 3 

principally that there were no major electricity users in the distribution area served by this 
connection.  He added that nitrous oxide could be emitted from the generators, which was 
toxic. 
 
Mr. Richard Dew, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Mr. Dominic Gates, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Ms. Madeleine Bastawrous, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 
 
Mr. Ruarith Mitchell, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. In response to a 
question from the committee regarding the future value and relevance of the development, 
Mr. Mitchell stated that domestic boilers currently being produced and fitted were designed 
to run off a 25% hydrogen mix. Also in response to a question regarding the height of 
proposed flues, he reported that the generators operated at a very high temperature and 
that the height was necessary to ensure adequate dispersal of exhaust gases over a wider 
area.  
 
In response to a question from the committee regarding the benefit of the development to 
the local community, Mr. Mitchell responded that the proposal would ensure a security of 
supply, which would be feeding into the local area. Small gas-powered stations such as 
these were required to deal with the transition to a mixed renewable supply, which 
necessitated rapid initiation and turning off. 
 
In response to a question regarding air quality, the planning officer confirmed that air 
quality levels were acceptable and accordance with policy EP1 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan and policy 14 of the Goring Neighbourhood Plan. Also, he had not received any 
further evidence regarding air quality which would have led him to recommend refusal. 
 
Mr. Robert Chamberlain, the agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
The democratic services officer had sent to the committee prior to the meeting a statement 
by Jenny Hedge, Chair of Trustees, of the Anne Carpmael Charitable Trust. 
 
The democratic services officer had also sent to the committee prior to the meeting 
statements from the following persons; 
 
Ms. Anna Povey, a local resident  
Mr. Alan Harrison, a local resident 
Mr. Jeremy Lazenby, a local resident 
 
Councillor Maggie Filipova-Rivers, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the 
application. The democratic services officer had sent to the committee prior to the meeting 
a statement by Councillor Filipova-Rivers. 
 
Councillor Filipova-Rivers and the committee referred to paragraph 6.21 of the report, 
which stated that, ‘‘…planning permission should be refused for major development other 
than in exceptional circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated that the 
development is in the public interest”. The planning officer was asked about the definition 
of a ‘major development’ and whether this constituted such a proposal. He replied that this 
was always a matter of judgment and that although he would not recommend refusal, the 
committee was entitled to form a view. The senior planning officer advised that although 
the National Planning Policy Framework provided good information for planning officers on 

Page 15



 4 

nature, scale and impact, there was limited definitive guidance available on the size of 
applications regarding the definition of a major application. Officers took into account other 
applications in the district as precedents. However, although it was unusual to receive 
applications within the AONB, impact upon that area was a key factor to make a judgment 
upon.  
 
The committee remained concerned at this proposal in the AONB, which it considered to 
be a ‘major development’ and which would be unacceptably harmful to character and 
appearance of a valued landscape and were minded to refuse planning permission. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: that planning permission is refused for application P20/S4706/FUL for the 
following reasons; 
 

1. Harmful to the character and appearance of the local landscape. 
2. Harmful to the visual amenity of this part of the AONB. 

 

28 P21/S2229/FUL - 12 Gap Way, Woodcote  
 
The committee considered application P21/S2229/FUL for the demolition of existing chalet 
bungalow and residential annexe, and erection of a 3-bed detached dwelling and a 4-bed 
detached dwelling (amended plans received 30th July and 15th September 2021, reducing 
the width of the proposed dwellings and increasing the separating distance from the plot 
boundaries) at 12 Gap Way Woodcote. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
Prior to the presentation of the report on this application, the planning officer reported that 
there was an error in paragraph 1.2; it had been incorrectly stated that the existing 
bungalow had been demolished, whereas it had been recently vacated and part of the land 
cleared as part of the extant approval. Demolition was part of the present application. The 
committee was shown slides of a previously approved infill scheme, extant until 2023, 
retaining the bungalow and adding a dwelling; work on this proposal had not commenced. 
The planning officer also reported that the site was located within the Chiltern Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) but within the built limits of Woodcote, rather than in 
the open countryside. The Oxfordshire County Council, the highways authority, considered 
that the intensification of the use of Gap Way and the access was reasonable, including 
the low vehicular speeds, and consequently had no objection to the application. The 
forestry officer had no objection, subject to conditions. The appearance, scale and siting of 
the proposal were broadly in keeping with the local vernacular and existing built form. The 
amenity of the development was not in direct conflict with design guide standards and the 
garden size was similar to neighbouring properties. There were reasonable separating 
distances between the proposed dwellings and other properties. The internal layout of the 
proposed buildings avoided first floor windows in the rear projecting gables closest to the 
rear boundaries. The planning officer added that there did not appear to be any erosion of 
visual amenity of neighbours. Visual impact would be very localised. The landscaping 
elements of the proposal were satisfactory and the relationship of the development with 
neighbouring properties was also acceptable and in character with this part of Woodcote. 
 

Page 16



 5 

Councillor Geoffrey Botting, a representative of Woodcote Parish Council, spoke to the 
application. Councillor Botting and the committee raised the issue of the removal of 
permitted development rights and the planning officer responded that this issue was dealt 
with in recommended conditions 4 and 5. 
 
Mr. David Parker, the agent, spoke in support of the application. He accepted, in principle 
on behalf of the applicants, any new conditions regarding the prohibition of fires during the 
construction phases, a requirement for the access to be repaired in the event of damage, 
coupled with a prohibition of the parking of construction of vehicles on Gap Way. 
 
Councillors Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, spoke in support of the 
application. 
 
The committee further discussed the issue of controlling construction in the interests of 
keeping the access clear and the repair of damage through a construction traffic 
management plan. The planning officer responded that such plans were not usually 
applied to this smaller scale of development. However, as the agent was amendable to 
rectifying damage to Gap Way and to keeping it clear during construction, a compliance 
condition would be appropriate. The committee noted with approval the agent’s positive 
attitude to these proposals. With these additional requirements, the committee was minded 
to grant planning permission. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2229/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions; 
 
1:    Commencement within three years - Full Planning Permission. 
2:    Development to be in accordance with the approved plans.  
3:    Schedule of Materials to be submitted and agreed prior to commencement of any 

development above slab level. 
4:    Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc. 
5:    Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no  
       outbuildings etc 
6:    Parking and manoeuvring areas to be provided as on plan and retained 
7:    No garage conversions into accommodation.  
8:    Energy Statement Verification condition. 
9:    Surface water drainage details to be submitted and agreed prior to  
       commencement of development. 
10:  Foul drainage details to be submitted and agreed prior to commencement of 

development. 
11:  Landscaping plan to be submitted and agreed prior to commencement. 
12:  Prior to first occupation, all first floor side-facing windows to be obscure  
       glazed and non-opening where below 1.7m from finished floor level. 
 

29 P21/S2106/FUL - HMP Huntercombe, Huntercombe Place, Nuffield  
 
The committee considered application P21/S2106/FUL for the construction of a 
replacement kitchen building with associated external works and part demolition of an 
existing building (as amended by additional supporting information received in July and 
August and September 2021 relating to bats, newts, biodiversity, noise, odour, lighting and 
energy) at HMP Huntercombe, Huntercombe Place, Nuffield. 

Page 17



 6 

 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
Planning officer reported that the committee was being asked to consider the application 
as Nuffield Parish Council had objected to it. He reported that the existing kitchen was not 
suitable for the present inmate population and was in poor physical condition. The 
development would be within the area of the existing buildings and would have no visual 
impact. The proposed building would be 25m. from the nearest neighbouring properties, 
and at least 30m. from any other neighbour. The proposal had no outward looking 
windows. The planning officer reported on concerns regarding neighbours’ amenity, 
namely noise and smell issues. The council’s environmental protection team had raised no 
objection to the proposal, as it was satisfied that an acceptable odour system could be put 
in place in the kitchen. The team also considered that proposed noise mitigation measures 
were appropriate. The countryside officer had considered that the proposed development 
was acceptable, subject to the requirement for some planting to obtain a biodiversity net 
gain. There was no objection from any of the other technical officers. 
 
Mr. David Redhouse, the Governor of HMP Huntercombe, spoke in support of the 
application. 
 
The committee noted that the existing kitchen was small and in poor physical condition; it 
catered for 480 people, though it was designed for 240. The facility suffered from 
condensation and mould owing to an inadequate ventilation system, and no floor drainage. 
This was the only site suitable for vehicular access and connectivity with secure areas and 
important buildings. The former kitchen would be converted to a multi-faith room, and the 
inadequate existing chapel would be demolished. It was noted that the prison valued its 
relationship with the residents of Bradley Road and regularly interacted with it. Noise 
would only be evident during the working day; it would not be possible to open the 
kitchen’s windows and food deliveries would be limited to or three or four per week. 
 
In response to a question regarding possible alternative sites at HMP Huntercombe, Mr. 
Redhouse responded there were no options for sites outside the secure perimeter, owing 
security of inmate and food safety concerns. 
 
In response to a question regarding possible noise created by glass bottles being 
deposited in the bins close to boundaries and neighbours, Mr. Redhouse reported that 
bins were placed on the opposite side of the kitchen and far away from residents, no glass 
was permitted in the prison, and all drinking and food containers were plastic. Rubbish 
bins were regularly compacted and there was a refuse collection every week. 
 
Councillors Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, spoke in support of the 
application. 
 
The committee considered that a new kitchen was badly required at HMP Huntercombe 
and that its concerns regarding the amenity of residents had been satisfactorily answered. 
The committee was therefore minded to grant planning permission.  
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2106/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions; 

Page 18



 7 

 
1 : Commence the development within three years of the date of permission. 
2 : Development to be implemented in accordance with plans submitted. 
3 : Development to be built using external materials as demonstrated on  
     plan/documentation.  
4 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the terms and conditions of newt 

licence.  
5 : All surface water drainage measures to be implemented in accordance   with details 

submitted. 
6 : All carbon reduction energy efficiency measures to be implemented as per  
     approved Energy Statement. 
7 : Details of noise and odour control techniques from the kitchen extraction  
     units to be submitted and approved – including details of maintenance.  
8 : All plant, machinery and equipment shall be installed, maintained and  

operated so as to ensure that the rating noise level from the equipment shall be at least 
5 dB below the pre-existing background noise.  

9 : Development to be implemented in accordance with requirements of Odour Risk 
Assessment. 

10: Landscaping scheme to ensure the creation of new biodiversity  
habitats/biodiversity net gain on site in accordance with biodiversity matrix, to be 
submitted and agreed.  

11 : All new external lighting shall be designed and installed so the main beam angle is not 
directed towards any receptors. 

 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.20 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S1638/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 26.4.2021 
 PARISH CHALGROVE 
 WARD MEMBER(S) David Turner 
 APPLICANT Mr Richard Thomas 
 SITE Land to the rear of 60-66 High Street, Chalgrove, 

OX44 7SS 
 PROPOSAL Demolition of garage block. Erection of a pair of 

single storey 2-Bed dwellings to the rear of 60-66 
High St, Chalgrove as amplified by SAP information 
received on 14 June 2021 as amplified by drainage 
strategy and flood risk assessment received 10 
August 2021. 

 OFFICER Kim Gould 
 

 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee because the objections of the 

Parish Council conflict with the views of the planning officer.  Officers recommend that 
planning permission is granted for the proposed development, subject to conditions.   
 

1.2 The site lies within the built-up limits of Chalgrove. It is set back from High Street 
behind a parade of shops which have residential flats above. The flats are accessed 
to the rear of High Street.  An OS extract showing the location of the site is attached 
as Appendix 1 
 

1.3 The site comprises a row of flat roof garages and garden areas associated with the 
flats above the parade of shops.  Access to the site is off High Street. 
 

1.4 The site includes flood zones, 1,2 and 3. The proposed dwellings are proposed within 
flood zone 1 whereas the access where it joins High Street lies within flood zone 3. 
 

1.5 The site lies within an area of archaeological interest 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S1638/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

1.6 In 2018, an application to build 2 x 2 bed dwellings was withdrawn. That elevations for 
the withdrawn proposal are shown below: 
 

 
1.7 This current application seeks full planning permission demolish the existing row of 

garages and erect 2 x 2 bed, single storey dwellings with outdoor amenity space, bike 
and bin storage and off-street parking.  
 

1.8 A copy of some of the submitted plans are attached as Appendix 2. Full copies of the 
plans, supporting information and consultee responses can be viewed on the council’s 
website at www.southandvale.gov.uk 
 

1.9 This application was the subject of pre application advice under planning ref 
P18/S0128/PEM. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Chalgrove Parish Council – Objection  

 

 Unneighbourly and overdevelopment  

 Serious concerns regarding access to the site. The access is narrow and does 
not allow for a pedestrian footpath. The increased vehicular traffic through this 
narrow access is a safety risk for children. 

 We feel that the existing shops experience difficulties with deliveries due to the 
narrow access and the lack of space on the site to turn around 

 It is believed that 3 car parking spaces for 2 properties is not adequate and the 
plans should be re-assessed.  

 
County Archaeological Services – No objection  
 
Drainage Officer - Initial comments holding objection. The site lies within fluvial flood 
zones 1, 2 and 3 and therefore, a Flood Risk Assessment is required. The FRA is in 
accordance with paragraph 164 and footnote 51 of the NPPF. 
 

Page 22

http://www.southandvale.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

Subsequent comment following submission of FRA – Holding objection. Additional 
information required. 
 
Following submission of additional information – No objection to planning 
permission being granted.  
 
OCC Highways Liaison Officer– No objection subject to conditions relating to parking 
and manoeuvring areas retained  and provision of cycle parking as shown on submitted 
plans.  
 
Environment Agency – No detailed response given – prioritising their responses to the 
highest risk cases- Advised that development proposals should be safe for the lifetime 
of the development and should not increase flood risk to surrounding areas in line with 
NPPF paragraphs 160 and 163. 
 
Council’s energy consultant  -  Proposal complies with policy DES10 – no objection  
 
Neighbour objections (5) 

 Site is restricted and incompatible with the development on this scale 

 Additional vehicular movements will also increase the noise level which is 
currently restricted to delivery vehicles a couple of times a week 

 The proposal will seriously impact our ability to enjoy our home and we strongly 
object to it.  

 Concern regarding access to the property during construction  

 Access is blocked by Londis shop lorries every Thursday for around 2 hours and 
at other times for Grundon waste collection lorries 

 Dwellings are very small (observation rather than objection) 

 Very close to properties in Langley Road – adverse impact on privacy and 
wellbeing 

 I am working from home so am concerned about the potential increase in noise 
both during and after construction. 

 Living and dining areas for the proposed dwellings will only be 4.4metres from 
our conservatory. 

 This is a case of “garden grabbing”. 

 The provision of 2 small units will not contribute in any meaningful way to the 
current shortfall of housing 

 Existing hedge helps to screen the existing flats and the proposed dwellings – 
this hedge may not always be there.  

 The site is currently garden space for the flats – are these residents not entitled 
to an amenity space? 

 There will be overlooking from the development to properties in Langley Road. 

 Inadequate parking provision  
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P20/S4857/FUL - Approved (03/03/2021) 

To enlarge the existing Londis and Posies shop (64-66) with formalised parking to the 
forecourt and ramped pedestrian access to the new entrances. The renewed shop 
frontage will provide an attractive new entrance, improved accessibility and more retail 
space to better serve the needs of the growing village.  Both shops are to extend ~3m 
forward along the parade. The rear of the site is to be renewed with improved 
pedestrian access, formalised parking, new covered bin and bike storage and planting. 
A new centralised rear access staircase for the above flats improve access and allow 
for a ~1m rear extension for storage to the Londis shop (as amended by plans 0275 rev 
01 and plan 0127 rev 01 removing rear staircase). 

Page 23

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S4857/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

P18/S2807/FUL - Withdrawn (02/10/2018) 
Demolition of garage block and construction of two, 2-bedroom dwellings and 
alterations to existing commercial shops. 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 N/A 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
DES9  -  Renewable Energy 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV9  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H16  -  Backland and Infill Development and Redevelopment 
H4  -  Housing in the Larger Villages 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Chalgrove Neighbourhood Plan  

C1 Location of development 
C2 Design and character 
H3 Home working 
H4 Residential parking 
Supporting statements in relation to: 
Flooding 
Biodiversity  
Archaeological sites 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Principle  

Page 24

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2807/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and Parking 

 Flooding 

 Biodiversity 

 Sustainable development and carbon reduction  
 

6.2 Principle 
Policy STRAT1 of the SOLP supports and enhances roles of the larger villages such as 
Chalgrove as local service centres. Policy H1 of the SOLP allows for new residential 
development within the existing built-up areas of towns and larger villages where there 
is a made Neighbourhood Plan provided that an important open space of public, 
environmental,  historical or ecological value is not lost, nor an important view harmed.  
 

6.3 Neighbourhood Plan policy C1 allows for development within the built-up area of 
Chalgrove provided the development conforms to other policies within the 
Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

6.4 In this case, the site lies within the built-up limits of Chalgrove. It is not considered an 
important environmental or ecological site.  
 

6.5 Design and character 
Policy DES2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all new development is designed to 
reflect the positive features that make up the character of the local area and should 
both physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings. The row of 8 
flat roof garages is unattractive and does not contribute positively to the visual amenity 
of the site or its surroundings. The garden area to the rear of the garages appears 
neglected and overgrown.  
 

6.6 The established character of the area is varied in terms of size and type of property and 
the pallet of materials . The site lies to the rear of a parade of shops fronting High 
Street. The shops have residential accommodation above them which have rendered 
walls and concrete tiled roof. The parade is three storeys high. To the rear (south west) 
of the application site are bungalows and brick-built chalet bungalows in Langley Road. 
The garages which would be replaced by this development are brick built with flat roofs.  
There is a grade II listed building opposite the site entrance, number 97 High Street,  
 

6.7 The proposed two dwellings would be single storey in design and would occupy 
approximately the same footprint as the existing garages. The dwellings are modest in 
size but exceed the nationally prescribed space standards. 
 

6.8 The material palette for the proposed new dwellings draws on the immediate context, 
using red brick with simple detailing and an asymmetric roof similar to that found on the 
flats opposite. 
 

6.9 The roof form is derived from the existing asymmetric roof on nos 60-66 High Street 
and enables the height to be kept low. The redevelopment of this site by the removal of 
the garages and the incorporation of the neglected garden area into functioning rear 
gardens would, in my opinion, enhance the character and visual amenity of the area 
and would not detract from the established character of the area. 

6.10 Residential amenity including garden sizes 
At the pre application stage, the applicant was advised that a single storey 
development would help to avoid any direct overlooking to neighbours. The applicant 
has acknowledged this and has submitted a scheme which is single storey in design.  

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

Both properties have garden sizes which exceed the council’s standard of 50sqm for a 
2-bed dwelling. House 1 has a rear garden of 51sqm whilst House 2 has a rear and 
size garden of 77sqm. As such, the proposal provides adequate private amenity space 
to accord with the Design Guide’s standards and Policy DES5 of the SOLP. 
  

6.11 The site partially comprises an area which is garden area for the flats above the parade 
of shops. From my site visit this area appeared neglected and underutilised. The 
occupiers of the flats appear to use a terrace area at the rear of the flats as amenity 
space. I do not, therefore, consider that the occupiers of the flats would experience a  
loss of useful amenity space. I have not received any objections from the occupiers of 
the flats in relation to this. 
  

6.12 Policy DES6 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that Development should not result in 
significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring properties by way of, for 
example, loss of privacy, dominance or visual intrusion. A number of neighbours have 
objected to this proposal on the grounds of it being unneighbourly. The neighbours 
most affected by this development are numbers 33, 35 and 37 Langley Road which lie 
directly south of the application site. The rear gardens of these properties abut the 
southern boundary of the site. These properties currently back onto the garden areas 
for the flats which is currently neglected and underutilised.  

  
6.13 The rear gardens of the new dwellings will abut the northern boundaries of these 

properties on Langley Road. The new dwelling would be sited some 4.5 metres from 
the joint boundary leaving a separation space between 33 and 35 Langley Road of 
approximately 21.5m and 13 m respectively. 
 

6.14 The South Oxfordshire Design Guide advises that a 10m gap should exist between the 
rear of a property and the rear boundary. In this case, that distance is 4.5 metres. The 
proposed dwellings , however, are single storey only with a maximum modest ridge 
height of 4 metres. As such, the proposed dwellings would not appear visually intrusive 
or overbearing. The plan below shows the outline of the existing garages as a dotted 
line to provide a comparison between the existing garages and the proposed dwellings.  

 
The distance between the existing garage block and the southern boundary of the site 
is some 9 metres. 
 

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

6.15 Access and Parking 
Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that new development provides for 
parking of vehicles in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council parking standards.   
Three unallocated parking spaces are provided for the new dwellings in line with the 
council’s parking standards. The county highway authority has raised no objection to 
the proposal on highway grounds subject to conditions requiring parking and 
manoeuvring areas to be retained and cycle parking to be provided as shown on the 
submitted plan. 
 

6.16 A single parking space has been allocated to each proposed dwelling along with a 
single ‘visitor’ only space. Given the site is located in a sustainable area with good 
access to buses within walking distance of the site and a provision for cycle parking, 
this level of car parking is considered acceptable by the highway authority. The 
proposal is unlikely to result in any significant intensification of transport activity at the 
site. No change is proposed to the existing access arrangements and the proposal is 
unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network. As such, there 
are no technical reasons to refuse this application on highway grounds.  
 

6.17 This proposal involves the demolition of 8 garages which currently serve the flats above 
the parade of shops fronting High Street. The county highway authority considers these 
garages to be substandard in size so they could only be used for the parking of a small 
car. As such parking provision for the flats is not being lost. Each flat will retain a single 
parking space. 
 

6.18 Flooding  
The site lies in flood zones 1, 2 and 3. It is the access off High Street which lies within 
flood zone 3. Policy EP4 seeks to minimise the risk and impact of flooding by directing 
new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding; ensuring that all new 
development addresses the effective management of all sources of flood risk and 
ensuring that development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.  
 

6.19 The council’s drainage engineer initially lodged a holding objection to this proposal on 
the grounds that a flood risk assessment (FRA) was required due to the site’s location 
within flood zones 2 and 2.  A FRA was subsequently submitted and the council’s 
drainage engineer has raised no objection to the proposal on drainage grounds. He has 
confirmed that the information submitted demonstrates than an emergency vehicle can 
access the site into flood zone 1 and that a feasible surface water drainage strategy 
has been demonstrated. No objection is being raised to this proposal on flooding 
grounds by the council’s drainage engineer.  
 

6.20 The applicant is not required to apply the Sequential Test in this case. This is because 
the council’s drainage engineer is satisfied that an emergency vehicle can access the 
site into flood zone 1 ; it is the access only onto High Street which lies within flood zone 
3, and none of the area to be occupied by the new dwellings lies within flood zones 2 or 
3. 
 

6.21 Biodiversity 
Policy ENV3 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all development provides a net gain in 
biodiversity where possible. As a minimum there is no loss of biodiversity. The agent 
has submitted a biodiversity statement which demonstrates that there would be a net 
gain of 14 sqm of green space as a result of this proposal. The biodiversity impact 
assessment calculator shows a very slight decrease in habitat biodiversity value of -
0.0364 habitats.  
 

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 12 January 2022 

6.22 I have consulted the council’s countryside officer on this application, and he has 
considered the biodiversity statement. He has advised that a pragmatic view should be 
taken in this case and that compliance with ENV3 can be secured with the delivery of 
the 2 bird boxes , 2 bat boxes and insect bricks as stated in Section 4.4 of the 
statement. The metric assessment does not account for species enhancements and as 
the loss is so minor, he is satisfied that this approach is acceptable in this instance 
subject to a compliance condition added to any planning permission to ensure the 
delivery of the features stated within section 4.4 of the statement.  
 

6.23 Sustainable development and carbon reduction  
 Policy DES10 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all new residential development 

achieves at least a 40% reduction in carbon emissions compared with a code 2013 
Building Regulations compliant base case. This reduction is to be secured through 
renewable energy and other low carbon technologies and/or energy efficiency 
measures. The applicant has submitted an energy statement which has been 
considered by the council’s energy consultant who has concluded that the proposal 
accords with policy DES10. A condition is also recommended requiring each property to 
be provided with an electrical charging point for a car. 

  
6.24 Community Infrastructure Levy 

This proposal is not CIL liable as there is no net increase in floor area . 
  
6.25 Pre-commencement conditions 

N/A  
 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 Your officers consider that the principle of redeveloping the site for residential 

development is acceptable. The proposed single storey dwellings would not result in 
significant adverse impacts on neighbour amenity. The proposed dwellings would have 
adequate off-street parking and garden spaces and would not result in issues of 
highway safety or flooding. The proposal accords with Development Plan policies and 
Government advice.  

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 To Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 

 
 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans  
3 : Materials as on plan 
4 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc 
5 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc 
6 : Energy Statement Verification 
7 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained  
8 : Cycle Parking (approved plans) 
9 : Surface Water Drainage 
10 : Electrical vehicles charging point 
11. Compliance condition ecology 
 

Author:         Kim Gould 
Contact No: 01235 540546 
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 28

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Page 29

Agenda Item 8P21/S1638/FUL

SAV_SHACRA
Typewriter
The site

SAV_SHACRA_1
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_2
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_3
Typewriter
Access

SAV_SHACRA_4
Typewriter
Appendix 1



www.deanlewisarchitects.com

Project

Client

Drawing

Scale @ A1 Drawn

Project No. Date

Purpose of Issue

Drawing Identifier BS1192 Compliant
rev

Dean Lewis Architects LTD

Rev Description Date

D
rw

n

C
hk

'd

A
pp

'd

Project-Originator-Zone-Level-File Type-Role-Number
CHO-DLA-XX-00-DR-A-0003

60-66 High St
Chalgrove, Oxford
OX44 7SS

Location Plan, Proposed Site Plan

1:200, 1:1250 DL

26/04/202120010

Mr Richard Thomas

New Houses Planning

This drawing is copyright and cannot be
reproduced without written consent.

Do not scale this drawing, except for planning
purposes.

All dimensions to be checked on site before
commencement and any discrepancies
reported to DLA

All works are to be carried out in accordance
with the latest British Standards and Codes of
Practice unless specifically directed otherwise
in the specification.

© Dean Lewis Architects Ltd /Users/deanlewis/OneDrive/Dean-Lewis-Architects_Ltd/Projects_2020/CHO_20010-Chalgrove-High-St-New-Houses/03-WIP/CAD Files/CHO_Central-File-Bungalows_25-02-21.pln 

Pr
in

t 
26

/0
4/

20
21

D
at

e:
 

11
:1

1

All work to comply with Building Regulations
and be confirmed by Building Control.

Significant Risks
1. Known asbestos on existing garage roof

and potential other contaminants
2. Potential fo buried services. Full GPRS and

utilities survey to be undertaken by
Contractor.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

0 10 20 30 40 50

39

2

70

1

1

97

76

The Crown

54

(PH)

4

60

101

31

HARDIN
GS

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2020. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

LANGLEY RD

HIGH ST

66

No. 60-62
Not surveyed internally
information from historic drawings

8

New Houses' 
Tradeable Footprint

145 m2

Min. clear
opening
850mm

910

R
 7

50

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

3

1
2

3
4

5

6

2 1

6,
00

0
5,

00
0

20,500

Back to Side 13,500 (Exceeds 12m min.)

Back to Side 12,000

Min. 1m

Rear Garden 51 m2 Rear Garden 42 m2

4 Hardings Rd

High St

Flat Flat Flat Flat
LondisPosiesPharmacy

Existing parking provision granted

lay-by

Informal Parking

Boundary line to be confirmed on deeds

Screened by tall mature trees and hedges with 1.8m high existing c/b fence

1.
8m

 h
ig

h 
ex

is
tin

g 
c/

b 
fe

nc
e

C
at

. 2
 C

om
pl

ia
nt

VisitorHouse 2House 1

4

5

Fr
on

t t
o 

Fr
on

t 2
1,

60
0 

(e
xc

ee
ds

 m
in

. 1
0m

)

5,
00

0

Side Garden 35 m2

Existing Garage Footprint
Dotted Red 

147 m2

No.58

No.68

Garage

Shed

No.60 No.66

No.4

No.2

N

Location Plan 1:1250

Proposed Site Plan 1:200

Appendix 2

P
age 30

SAV_KIMGOU
Distance Measurement
7.99 m



www.deanlewisarchitects.com

Project

Client

Drawing

Scale @ A1 Drawn

Project No. Date

Purpose of Issue

Drawing Identifier BS1192 Compliant
rev

Dean Lewis Architects LTD

Rev Description Date

D
rw

n

C
hk

'd

A
pp

'd

Project-Originator-Zone-Level-File Type-Role-Number
CHO-DLA-XX-00-DR-A-0250

60-66 High St
Chalgrove, Oxford
OX44 7SS

Existing NE Elevation, SW Rear Elevation,
NW Elevation, SE Elevation

1:100 DL

02/04/202120010

Mr Richard Thomas

New Houses Planning

This drawing is copyright and cannot be
reproduced without written consent.

Do not scale this drawing, except for planning
purposes.

All dimensions to be checked on site before
commencement and any discrepancies
reported to DLA

All works are to be carried out in accordance
with the latest British Standards and Codes of
Practice unless specifically directed otherwise
in the specification.

© Dean Lewis Architects Ltd /Users/Dean/OneDrive/Dean-Lewis-Architects_Ltd/Projects_2020/CHO_20010-Chalgrove-High-St-New-Houses/03-WIP/CAD Files/CHO_Central-File-Bungalows_25-02-21.pln 

Pr
in

t 
02

/0
4/

20
21

D
at

e:
 

13
:2

3

All work to comply with Building Regulations
and be confirmed by Building Control.

Significant Risks
1. Known asbestos on existing garage roof

and potential other contaminants

Boundary fence line

0 1 2 3 4 5

Existing NE Elevation 1:100

SW Rear Elevation 1:100

NW Elevation 1:100

SE Elevation 1:100

P
age 31



www.deanlewisarchitects.com

Project

Client

Drawing

Scale @ A1 Drawn

Project No. Date

Purpose of Issue

Drawing Identifier BS1192 Compliant
rev

Dean Lewis Architects LTD

Rev Description Date

D
rw

n

C
hk

'd

A
pp

'd

Project-Originator-Zone-Level-File Type-Role-Number
CHO-DLA-XX-00-DR-A-0275

60-66 High St
Chalgrove, Oxford
OX44 7SS

Proposed NE Elevation, SW Rear Elevation,
NW Elevation, SE Elevation

1:100 DL

02/04/202120010

Mr Richard Thomas

New Houses Planning

This drawing is copyright and cannot be
reproduced without written consent.

Do not scale this drawing, except for planning
purposes.

All dimensions to be checked on site before
commencement and any discrepancies
reported to DLA

All works are to be carried out in accordance
with the latest British Standards and Codes of
Practice unless specifically directed otherwise
in the specification.

© Dean Lewis Architects Ltd /Users/Dean/OneDrive/Dean-Lewis-Architects_Ltd/Projects_2020/CHO_20010-Chalgrove-High-St-New-Houses/03-WIP/CAD Files/CHO_Central-File-Bungalows_25-02-21.pln 

Pr
in

t 
02

/0
4/

20
21

D
at

e:
 

12
:2

1

All work to comply with Building Regulations
and be confirmed by Building Control.

Significant Risks
1. Known asbestos on existing garage roof

and potential other contaminants

E
xi

st
in

g 
ga

ra
ge

ou
tli

ne

E
xi

st
in

g 
ga

ra
ge

ou
tli

ne

Boundary fence line

E
xi

st
in

g 
ga

ra
ge

 o
ut

lin
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
ga

ra
ge

 o
ut

lin
e

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed NE Elevation 1:100

SW Rear Elevation 1:100

NW Elevation 1:100

SE Elevation 1:100

P
age 32



www.deanlewisarchitects.com

Project

Client

Drawing

Scale @ A1 Drawn

Project No. Date

Purpose of Issue

Drawing Identifier BS1192 Compliant
rev

Dean Lewis Architects LTD

Rev Description Date

D
rw

n

C
hk

'd

A
pp

'd

Project-Originator-Zone-Level-File Type-Role-Number
CHO-DLA-XX-00-DR-A-0102

60-66 High St
Chalgrove, Oxford
OX44 7SS

Existing Ground Floor Plan

1:100 DL

02/04/202120010

Mr Richard Thomas

New Houses Planning

This drawing is copyright and cannot be
reproduced without written consent.

Do not scale this drawing, except for planning
purposes.

All dimensions to be checked on site before
commencement and any discrepancies
reported to DLA

All works are to be carried out in accordance
with the latest British Standards and Codes of
Practice unless specifically directed otherwise
in the specification.

© Dean Lewis Architects Ltd /Users/Dean/OneDrive/Dean-Lewis-Architects_Ltd/Projects_2020/CHO_20010-Chalgrove-High-St-New-Houses/03-WIP/CAD Files/CHO_Central-File-Bungalows_25-02-21.pln 

Pr
in

t 
02

/0
4/

20
21

D
at

e:
 

12
:3

0

All work to comply with Building Regulations
and be confirmed by Building Control.

Significant Risks
1. Known asbestos on existing garage roof

and potential other contaminants

No. 60-62
Not surveyed internally
information from historic drawings

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Commercial waste

Garages used for storage.
Insufficient width for modern car parking.

Pharmacy
A: 61 m2

No. 66 Londis Shop
A: 65 m2

Extension
A: 20 m2

No. 64 Posies Shop
A: 29 m2

Fridge
A: 5 m2

Store
A: 9 m2

Covered Bin Store

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Access
A: 7 m2

WC
A: 1 m2

No.58

No.68

Garage

Shed

No.60 No.66

N

0 1 2 3 4 5

Existing Ground Floor Plan 1:100

P
age 33



www.deanlewisarchitects.com

Project

Client

Drawing

Scale @ A1 Drawn

Project No. Date

Purpose of Issue

Drawing Identifier BS1192 Compliant
rev

Dean Lewis Architects LTD

Rev Description Date

D
rw

n

C
hk

'd

A
pp

'd

Project-Originator-Zone-Level-File Type-Role-Number
CHO-DLA-XX-00-DR-A-0127

60-66 High St
Chalgrove, Oxford
OX44 7SS

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

1:100 DL

22/11/202120010

Mr Richard Thomas

New Houses Planning

This drawing is copyright and cannot be
reproduced without written consent.

Do not scale this drawing, except for planning
purposes.

All dimensions to be checked on site before
commencement and any discrepancies
reported to DLA

All works are to be carried out in accordance
with the latest British Standards and Codes of
Practice unless specifically directed otherwise
in the specification.

© Dean Lewis Architects Ltd /Users/deanlewis/OneDrive/Dean-Lewis-Architects_Ltd/Projects_2020/CHO_20010-Chalgrove-High-St-New-Houses/03-WIP/CAD Files/CHO_Central-File-Bungalows_19-11-2021.pln 

Pr
in

t 
22

/1
1/

20
21

D
at

e:
 

08
:5

6

All work to comply with Building Regulations
and be confirmed by Building Control.

Significant Risks
1. Known asbestos on existing garage roof

and potential other contaminants
2. Potential fo buried services. Full GPRS and

utilities survey to be undertaken by
Contractor.

Min. clear
opening
850mm

910

R
 7

50

New Houses' 
Tradeable Footprint

145 m2

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

6,
00

0
5,

00
0

20,500

Back to Side 13,500 (Exceeds 12m min.)

Back to Side 12,000

Min. 1m

Rear Garden 51 m2 Rear Garden 42 m2

8 m2

4 Hardings Rd

Flat Flat Flat Flat
LondisPosiesPharmacy

Existing parking provision granted

Boundary line to be confirmed on deeds

Screened by tall mature trees and hedges with 1.8m high existing c/b fence

1.
8m

 h
ig

h 
ex

is
tin

g 
c/

b 
fe

nc
e

C
at

. 2
 C

om
pl

ia
nt

VisitorHouse 2House 1

Ornamental
Planting

Extension
A: 20 m2

Fridge
A: 5 m2

Store
A: 9 m2

WC

House 2
M4(2) Adaptable House
A: 63 m2

House 1
M4(2) Adaptable House
A: 63 m2

Bathroom

Bedroom 1

Bathroom

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Store

A: 2 m2
Store

A: 2 m2

Ornamental
Planting

8

Fr
on

t t
o 

Fr
on

t 2
1,

60
0 

(e
xc

ee
ds

 m
in

. 1
0m

)

5,
00

0

Side Garden 35 m2

Existing Garage Footprint
Dotted Red 

147 m2

No.58

Garage

Shed

No.60 No.66

No.35 No.37

No.4

No.2

No.33No.31

N

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Ground Floor Plan 1:100

01    DL                  Indicative Landscaping shown   22/11/21

01

P
age 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S2860/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 16.7.2021 
 PARISH LITTLE MILTON 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Caroline Newton 
 APPLICANT Mrs Niki Cook 
 SITE Land between The Plough House and Frogmore, 

Stadhampton Road, Little Milton, Oxfordshire, OX44 
7QD 

 PROPOSAL Replacement access. (As amended by updated 
description on the 20th of October 2021 and 
amended plans on the 25th of November 2021) 

 OFFICER Nathaniel Bamsey 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee because the Parish Council objects 

to the development and officers are recommending that planning permission is 
granted.  
 

1.2 The application site is a piece of land to the south of the village of Little Milton. The 
location plan is as attached as Appendix 1. The site is between The Plough House to 
the north, Frogmore to the south west and Stadhampton Road (the A329) to the east. 
The site currently has a single vehicular access in its south western corner. The site is 
within the Oxford Green Belt, the Little Milton Conservation Area and both Frogmore 
and The Plough House are Grade II listed buildings. 
 

1.3 This application seeks approval for a replacement access. The plan for the proposals 
is attached as Appendix 2. The replacement access is further east than the existing 
access which will be stopped up.  
 

1.4 The application has been amended twice. First, the description was amended to make 
clearer that a replacement access was sought and not a new access and secondly an 
amended block plan was submitted again making clearer that the existing access is to 
be closed up and showing the vision splays for the new access. A re-consultation with 
neighbours and the Parish was not considered necessary as the amendments only 
clarified the proposals which were unchanged. 
 

1.5 There is an extensive planning history on the site. The current access was allowed on 
appeal in 2007 (P06/W0226). This decision followed three previous refusals, in 2004, 
1993 (as part of an application for three houses) and 1982. Appeals against the 2004 
and 1993 refusals were dismissed. These previous decisions are material to the 
assessment of this application.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Little Milton Parish Council  

 
‘Little Milton Parish Council RESOLVED at its meeting on 8 September 2021 to object 
to this application for the following reasons. 
 

1. Safety. The extant access is not particularly safe, the proposal moves the 
access further along the road, where traffic is travelling faster. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2860/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

2. The previous access was put in for agricultural purposes but there is no 
evidence the field has ever been used for this purpose. 

3. The application does not set out plans to mitigate the loss of wildlife habitat and 
biodiversity. 

4. There does not appear to be any reason to move the access unless it is part of 
a plan for future development on the site.’ 

 
County Archaeological Services (OCC)  
 
‘The proposals outlined would not appear to have an invasive impact upon any known 
archaeological sites or features. As such there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme.’ 
 
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council)  
 
No objection, subject to condition 
 
‘I suggest the following conditions: 
New vehicular access hereby permitted the proposed means of access onto 
Stadhampton Road is to be formed and laid out and constructed strictly in accordance 
with the local highway authority’s specifications and all ancillary works specified shall 
be undertaken.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway. 
 
Vision splay protection  
The vision splays shall not be obstructed by any object, structure, planting or other 
material with a height exceeding or growing above 0.9 metres as measured from 
carriageway level.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011. 
 
Close existing access before the proposed access is first used, the existing access onto 
Stadhampton Road shall be permanently stopped up by the means of reinstatement of 
the highway verge and proposed planting to the approval of the Local Planning 
Authority and in accordance with the local highway authority’s specifications. Thereafter 
the closed access shall not be used by any vehicular traffic whatsoever.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011. 
 
Informative 
 
Works within the Highway 
If works are required to be carried out within the public highway, the applicant is 
advised not to commence such work before formal approval has been granted by 
Oxfordshire County Council by way of a legal agreement between the applicant and 
Oxfordshire County Council. Any utilities that need to be moved, or impacted on, will 
have to be moved to a new location which is in line with standards and this will be at the 
applicants expense.’ 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

Conservation Officer   
 
‘The proposals would cause a low level of less than substantial harm to the setting of 
Plough House and the character and appearance of Little Milton Conservation Area. 
 
As recognised by the previous appeal decisions, providing an access from 
Stadhampton Road to the field is harmful to the conservation area, as it erodes the rural 
character and the sequence of views upon entering the village. The last appeal 
decision however considered the approved access justified on account of there being 
no less harmful options available. 
 
The greatest harm is caused by the necessary change in landform to provide a 
sufficient visibility splay which was required for the approved access and is also 
required for the proposed access. As these works are approved by the last appeal 
decision the additional harm caused by this application to the rural setting of the Plough 
House and the character and appearance of the conservation area would be low, 
caused by the closer proximity to the Plough House and the increased length of 
development.’ 
 
Neighbours 
 
Objections (5) 
 

 Loss of biodiversity 

 Loss of orchids protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

 Current access has never been used 

 The applicant intends to build a house on the land (this is not a material 
consideration) 

 Loss of landscaping planted as part of the permission for the existing access 

 Increase to flooding risk 

 Harm to setting of listed buildings and conservation areas 

 Harm to highway safety 

 Additional access is not necessary (a replacement access is sought, as clarified 
by amendments) 

 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P13/S3125/FUL - Refused (02/12/2013) 

The erection of a new residential dwelling and access. 
 
P06/W0226 - Refused (24/05/2006) - Appeal allowed (19/03/2007) 
Creation of a new agricultural vehicular access. 
 
P04/W0766 - Refused (24/08/2004) - Appeal dismissed (29/04/2005) 
Creation of new agricultural vehicular access.  (As amplified by Agent's e-mail dated 20 
August 2004). 
 
P93/N0511 - Refused (25/10/1993) - Appeal dismissed (20/07/1994) 
3 detached houses with garage accommodation.  Access. 
 
P82/N0338 - Refused (20/10/1982) 
 
NEW ACCESS ONTO A329 WALLINGFORD TO THAME ROAD. 
 

 

Page 37

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S3125/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P06/W0226
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P04/W0766
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P93/N0511
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/N0338


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, 
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required.  

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 
ENV7  -  Listed Buildings 
ENV8  -  Conservation Areas 
ENV9  -  Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
STRAT6  -  Green Belt 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Little Milton Neighbourhood Plan 
 
LM1  -  Spatial Strategy and Development Pattern 
LM2  -  Mitigation of Flood Risk 
LM4  -  Conservation of Heritage Assets 
LM5  -  Design and Character 
LM6  -  Biodiversity and Wildlife Corridors 

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) 
(P(LBCA)A) 
In determining this application, the council has regard to its obligation to preserve the 
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural and historic interest 
and/or to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area 
as required by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended). 
 

 Human Rights Act 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Page 38



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Green Belt 

 Principle of the development 

 Design, character, and heritage impacts 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and parking 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

6.2 Green Belt 
 
Policy  
 
Policy STRAT6 requires protection of the Green Belt and its key functions from harmful 
development. Development is restricted to those limited types of development which 
are deemed appropriate by the NPPF, unless very special circumstances can be 
demonstrated. Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
 
Discussion  
 
The NPPF outlines certain forms of development that will not be inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt. This includes engineering operations. S.336(1) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) states that ‘“engineering 
operations” includes the formation or laying out of means of access to highways’. 
Engineering operations are not inappropriate development in the Green Belt provided 
they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land 
within it. 
 
Impact on openness 
 
The development proposes a one-for-one replacement of an existing access. The 
nature of the works would prevent any harm to openness as there is little impact both 
visually and spatially from moving the existing access and gate to the east and no other 
built development is proposed. There is no intensification of the use of the site so there 
will be no harm to openness from increased activity.  
 
Conflict with including land within Green Belt 
 
The NPPF outlines the purposes of including land within the Green Belt as:  
 

(a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
 
the development will not result in sprawl as no buildings are proposed 

 
(b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

 
the development will not cause neighbouring towns to merge 

 
(c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. 

 

Page 39



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

the development is not considered to constitute an encroachment into the 
countryside as it is a replacement field access. This type of access is common 
in the countryside where agriculture dominates and there will not be urbanising 
effect. 

 
(d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

 
the development will have no impact on the setting or special character of a 
historic town 

 
(e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land 
 
there will be no impact on urban regeneration  

 
As outlined above, officers consider the proposed development would not conflict with 
any of the purposes of including land within the Green Belt. 
 
The development will not harm the openness of the Green Belt nor conflict with the 
purposes of including land within. On this basis the replacement access is not 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and it accords with policy STRAT6.  
 

6.3 Principle of the development 
 
This application seeks permission to replace the existing access. As a one-for-one 
replacement, officers consider the principle of the development to be acceptable 
subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies.  
 

6.4 Design, character, and heritage impacts 
 
Policy  
 
Policy DES1 requires new development to be of high-quality design. The policy gives a 
wide range of measures against which development will be assessed, including efficient 
use of land, net gains and no net loss of biodiversity, sustainability and respect for local 
character and context. This respect for local character is echoed by policy DES2 which 
requires new development to be designed to reflect the positive features that make up 
the character of the local area and it should both physically and visually enhance and 
complement the surroundings.  
 
Policy ENV1 seeks to protect South Oxfordshire’s landscape, countryside, and rural 
areas against harmful development by requiring development to protect and, where 
possible enhance, features that contribute to the nature and quality of South 
Oxfordshire’s landscapes. 
 
Policy ENV7 requires proposals for development affecting the setting of a listed building 
to conserve, enhance or better reveal those elements which contribute to the heritage 
significance. Policy ENV8 relates to development within conservation areas and 
requires development to preserve or enhance the area’s special interest, character, 
setting and appearance.  
 
Policy LM4 of the Neighbourhood Plan supports development that conserves and 
enhances Little Milton’s heritage assets. Development within the Historic Core as 
identified by the Plan should maintain the variety of styles, design, materials, and layout 

Page 40



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

characteristic of the historic core area including the subdued colour scheme and 
informal layout of roads, lanes, and paths.  
 
Policy LM5 of the Neighbourhood Plan states that new development should reflect the 
character of Little Milton. Several criteria are given against which development will be 
judged including the form and scale of the buildings reflecting the near-by street scene, 
buildings being set back from the street to create visual interest and on-plot parking not 
detracting from the street scene. 
 
Discussion  
 
The 2004 application for a new access was dismissed on appeal. That application 
proposed significant works to the bank to create 90m vision splays and the Inspector 
considered that this would introduce an alien feature into the conservation area that 
would harm its appearance. The Inspector found that 90m vision splays were not 
necessary in this location due to traffic calming measures in the vicinity.  
 
Following this dismissed appeal, an amended application was submitted in 2006 which 
proposed 60m vision splays as opposed to 90m. The reduced vision splay length 
greatly reduced the extent of regrading of the bank that was required, and the length of 
straight fence was similarly reduced. This application was again refused by the Council. 
However, the Inspector allowed the appeal as they were satisfied that ‘there are no 
other less intrusive options available’ and the works were ‘the minimum required to 
provide a vehicular access to the site’. They therefore concluded that the development 
would not harm visual amenity nor heritage assets. 
 
Despite the fact the Inspector found that no other less intrusive access was possible, 
the conservation officer considers that as no additional works to the bank are proposed 
(save from re-grading the section where the access is proposed), the additional harm 
from these proposals is limited to the closer proximity to the Plough House and the 
increased length of development. They consider that this results in ‘a low level of less 
than substantial harm’ to the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
the setting of The Plough House.  
 
Paragraph 202 of the NPPF and policies ENV7 & ENV8 state that when a development 
proposal would result in less than significant harm to the significance of a heritage 
asset ‘this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal’. An 
assessment as to whether the public benefits outweigh the harm to heritage assets is 
considered in the planning balance at the end of this report.  
 
The development will involve the loss of a section of hedgerow. This hedgerow 
contributes to local character, but the small size of the section lost is considered to 
prevent significant harm to visual amenity. A condition is recommended requiring a 
hedgerow to be planted across the existing access to mitigate for the loss of the section 
of hedgerow and to give enclosure to the street scene.  
 
To sum up, the development will cause a low level of less than substantial harm to the 
setting of The Plough House and the character and appearance of the conservation 
area. As per paragraph 202 of the NPPF and policies ENV7 & ENV8, for the 
development to accord with these policies, this harm must be outweighed by public 
benefits of the development.  
 
 
 
 

Page 41



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

The PPG defines public benefits as follows: 
 

Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that 
delivers economic, social or environmental objectives as described in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 8). Public benefits should flow 
from the proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of 
benefit to the public at large and not just be a private benefit. However, benefits 
do not always have to be visible or accessible to the public in order to be 
genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed private dwelling which 
secure its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. 

 
In officers’ view, repositioning of the access can viewed as a public benefit. The 
highway impacts of the development are assessed elsewhere in this report, but the 
authority considers the new access as safer, so the development contributes to 
achieving the social objective of sustainable development. The benefit is public as 
despite it being a private access, it affects the public highway and highway safety.  
 
The safer access to the site could also bring it back into agricultural use for grazing. 
The Neighbourhood Plan shows the land is identified as Grade 2 (Very Good) by the 
Agricultural Land Classifications from Natural England. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF 
states that planning decisions should take account of ‘the economic and other benefits 
of the best and most versatile agricultural land’. Therefore, bringing this land back into 
agricultural use is a public benefit as the benefits of the best agricultural land, economic 
or otherwise, are resurrected. 
 

6.5 Residential amenity 
 
Policy  
 
Policy DES6 requires development proposals to demonstrate that they will not 
significantly impact the amenity of neighbouring uses in relation to loss of privacy, 
daylight or sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell, dust, heat, 
odour, gases or other emissions, pollution, contamination or the use of / or storage of 
hazardous substances and external lighting. 
 
Discussion  
 
The distance to neighbouring properties from the proposed access will prevent harm to 
their amenity through increased noise and disturbance and moving the access away 
from Frogmore could reduce this. Therefore, the development is considered to accord 
with policy DES6.  
 

6.6 Access and parking 
 
Policy  
 
Policy TRANS5 requires develop proposals to provide for a safe and convenient access 
for all users to the highway network, provide cycle parking where relevant, be served by 
an adequate road network which can accommodate traffic without creating traffic 
hazards or damage to the environment, be designed to enable charging of plug-in and 
other lower emission vehicles, provide for loading, unloading, circulation and turning 
space and provide for the parking of vehicles in accordance with Oxfordshire County 
Council (OCC) parking standards, unless specific evidence is provided to justify 
otherwise.  
 

Page 42



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

Discussion  
 
The applicant submits that the current access does not offer sufficient vision splays and 
that the proposed location would be safer. It is suggested that this position has 
previously been agreed with a highways officer from OCC.  
 
The highways liaison officer was consulted on this application and they agree that the 
current access does not accord with current standards and, subject to conditions 
requiring the new access to be built to OCC standards, vision splays being kept free of 
obstruction and the existing access being stopped up they have no objection. All three 
of these conditions are necessary and reasonable to ensure there will be no harm to 
highway safety from the development.  
 
A telecommunications cabinet has recently been installed close to the proposed 
access. The applicant believes that this has been installed on their land in error without 
their consent. in any case, the highways officer is satisfied that provided it is made clear 
that it is the applicant’s responsibility to move any obstructions in the proposed vision 
splays they have no objection. A condition is recommended requiring the cabinet to be 
moved prior to the first use of the access if it is within the vision splays.  
 
Subject to the recommended conditions, officers consider that there will be no harm to 
highway safety and the application complies with policy TRANS5.  
 

6.7 Other material planning considerations 
 
Biodiversity  
 
Policy  
 
Policy ENV2 states that development likely to result, either directly or indirectly to the 
loss, deterioration or harm to legally protected species or important or ancient hedges 
or hedgerows will only be permitted if the need for, and benefits of the development in 
the proposed location outweighs the adverse effect on the interests; it can be 
demonstrated that it could not reasonably be located on an alternative site that would 
result in less or no harm to the interests; and measures are provided that would avoid, 
mitigate or as a last resort, compensate for the adverse effects resulting from 
development. 
 
Policy ENV3 supports development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity 
in the district. All development should provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. 
As a minimum, there should be no net loss of biodiversity. 
 
Policy LM6 of the Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals should 
maintain and enhance existing on-site biodiversity assets, delivering biodiversity 'net 
gain' in line with the Development Plan and provide for wildlife needs on site where 
possible. Where appropriate, on site biodiversity enhancements such as new roosting 
features for bats or nesting features for birds should be incorporated into the fabric of 
the development. 
 
Discussion 
 
Several residents have raised concerns about the impact of the development on some 
orchids that are growing in the highway verge. The council’s ecology officer has 
confirmed that whilst all wildflowers benefit from some level of protection under Section 
13 the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (WCA) none of the species identified on the 

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

road verge are in Schedule 8 of the WCA, which gives additional legal protection. It is 
not an offence for the landowner, or their contractors, to destroy those flowers. 
Therefore, it would not be reasonable to refuse the application on this basis.  
 
The loss of the section of hedgerow will result in a loss of biodiversity as hedgerows 
provide a habitat and food that support a number of species. This loss will be mitigated 
through requiring a hedge to be planted across the existing access which will ensure 
there is no net loss of biodiversity from the development. As there is no net loss of 
biodiversity and no protected species or habitats will be harmed, officers consider that 
the application complies with policies ENV2, ENV3 & LM6 of the development plan.  
 
Flooding  
 
Policy  
 
Policy EP4 seeks to minimise the risk and impact of flooding by directing new 
development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding, ensuring that all new 
development addresses the effective management of all sources of flood risk and 
ensuring that development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. A Site-
Specific Flood Risk Assessment (SSFRA) should be provided for all development in 
Flood Zones 2 and 3. Development will be required to provide a drainage strategy that 
should include sustainable drainage systems. 
 
Policy LM2 of the Neighbourhood Plan seeks to minimise the risk and impact of 
flooding through directing new development to areas with the lowest probability of 
flooding, ensuring that all new development addresses the effective management of all 
sources of flood risk, and ensuring that development does not increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere. 
 
Discussion  
 
Stadhampton Road is identified as an area at increased risk of surface water flooding. 
As the proposed development is for a replacement access and no other development 
or change of use is proposed, there will be no increased risk from flooding. The new 
access will not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere as the condition requiring the 
new access to meet OCC standards will include management of run-off.  
 
As the development will not be at risk from flooding nor increase the risk elsewhere it is 
held that the application complies with policies EP4 & LM2.  

  
6.8 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
The development is not CIL liable.  

  
6.9 Pre-commencement conditions 

 
No pre-commencement conditions are recommended so the agreement of the 
applicant/agent is not required.  
 

6.10 Planning balance 
 
For the reasons outlined above, the development is considered to cause a low level of 
less than substantial harm to the setting of The Plough House and the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF and policies ENV7 & 
ENV8 requires this harm to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposals.  

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 
The lack of harm to neighbours, biodiversity and flooding are neutral factors that attract 
limited weight. However, in officers view, the public benefits of increasing highway 
safety and bringing the site back into agricultural use are, when taken together, 
considered to outweigh the low level of less than substantial harm to heritage assets. 
Therefore, on balance, the development is considered to accord with polices ENV7 & 8 
and the NPPF.   

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the development 

is acceptable in principle and it is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
There will be no harm to neighbours, flooding nor biodiversity but it is considered there 
will be a low level of less than substantial harm to the significance of heritage assets. 
officers consider that this harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the proposals, 
namely the improvement in highway safety and the bringing back into use high grade 
agricultural land. Therefore, on balance the development is considered to accord with 
the relevant policies of the adopted development plan and the NPPF.  

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION to grant planning permission subject to the following 

conditions: 
  
8.1 Planning Permission  

 
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission     
2 : Approved plans     
3 : New vehicular access    
4 : New hedge required     
5 : Close existing access     
6 : Access and Vision Splays    
7 : Vision splay protection  
 
   
Informative re Works within the Highway 

 
 

 Author: Nathaniel Bamsey 

Contact No: 01235 540546 

Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 47

Agenda Item 9P21/S2860/FUL



L 

gate set bock 12m 
from rood, and 
positioned 1 m away 
from & perpendulor 
to field boundary 
fence 

60m long vision 
splay line 600mm 
above rood surface 

60m long 
600mm a ove rood
shown th s __ _ 

PROPOSED SlmE PLAN (1 :500) 
(showing existing site levels) 

Ordnance Survey mop doto reproduced by permission of 

H.M. Stationery Office. Crown Copywright no 100020449. 

'Close t',x./.sh·
r13 

access� 
re-iris-tote bounda:J 
to COUt1fL/ COUil er'/ 
stanof«rd 

\ 

t=xrstrn-3 
ba v, ks 

trJ be 
r.efaJneol 

• Vis; vi!t'ty
Sr fa:J

Cott 

I 

I Brooklands I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
l 
I 
I 

) 

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN 
WYTHAM COURT, 11 WEST WAY, 
OXFORD,OX20QL 
Telephone:+ 044 (0)1865 269000 
Facsimile:+ 044 (0)1865 269001 

www .savills.co. uk/architects 

Proposed Agricultural Access 

,�• 

to Land at 
Little Milton, Oxford 
SITE PLAN & SECTIONS

Drawing No. Rev. Scale 

COO009/002 03 1:100,1:500@A3 

Appendix 2

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 1 

 

 
 APPLICATION NOS. P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION and LISTED BUILDING 
 REGISTERED 11.9.2020/9.6.2001 
 PARISH TOWERSEY 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Lynn Lloyd 

Ian White 
 APPLICANT Punch Partnerships (PML) Ltd 
 SITE Three Horseshoes, Chinnor Road, Towersey, OX9 

3QY 
 PROPOSALS Application P20/S3379/FUL 

Conversion of outbuilding to a dwelling utilising 
existing access, with associated landscaping and 
parking (As per amended plans and supporting 
information submitted 3 November 2020) (As per 
additional and amended drainage details submitted 
8 December 2020) 
 
Application P21/S2504/LB 
Change of Use of existing outbuilding (Sui Generis) 
to provide one dwelling (Use Class C3) utilising 
existing access, with associated landscaping and 
parking (as per amended plans showing the removal 
all rooflights and the relocation of the internal 
doorway which connects the main barn to the 
smaller outbuilding, submitted 9 August 2021), (as 
per amended plans to include the provision of two 
times small domestic outbuildings and patio area, 
submitted 6 September 2021), (as per flood 
resilience strategy and updated heritage statement 
submitted 23 November 2021). 
 

 OFFICER Caitlin Phillpotts 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 These applications have been referred to Planning Committee at the Development 

Manager’s discretion reflecting the level of public interest that it has attracted and in 
consultation with Councillor Ian White. 
 

1.2 The application site is shown on the OS plan attached as Appendix A. The site 
contains the Three Horseshoes public house with ancillary barn and attached 
outbuilding, beer garden and car park, located within the built-up limits of Towersey, 
inside the Towersey conservation area. The site has an existing means of vehicular 
access onto the unmade access land (connecting onto the Chinnor Road and access 
lane) to the north of the site. A public right of way, Towersey Footpath 9, runs east to 
west along the adjoining access lane marked with the blue line on the OS plan extract 
attached as Appendix B.  
 

1.3 The site contains a watercourse / small steam running north south across the gardens 
to the front (west) of the plot. The site is known to be at risk of pluvial flooding. 
Photographs attached as Appendix C, supplied as part of the consultation responses 
show the barn, pub gardens, access lane, areas of hardstanding and adjacent 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S3379/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 2 

highway, under a consistent level of flood water. This consistent level of flooding 
corresponds with the flat topography across the entire site and surrounding locality. 
 

1.4 The application seeks planning permission for the part change of use at the site and 
the conversion of the detached barn at the site to a dwelling with associated parking 
and private outdoor amenity spaces. In the interest of clarity, I have shaded the area 
of land over which a change of use is sought on the site plan pasted below.  
 

 
 
1.5 

 
This application was submitted on 11 September 2020, at which time the application 
site (Three Horseshoes Public House and ancillary barn) was subject to a pending 
application for an Asset of Community Value status. A decision not to list the site as 
an ACV was issued by the council’s Community Enablement Team on 4 January 
2021. A copy of the decision letter is attached as Appendix D.  
 

1.6 During the course of the planning application a bid to list the barn was submitted to 
Historic England,  on which the council’s conservation team were formally consulted. 
The barn and attached outbuilding were formally granted Grade II listed status on 10 
March 2021 for its special architectural and historic interest. A full copy of the listing 
description is attached as Appendix E.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 

Full copies of all consultation responses received during the course of the applications 
can be found on the council’s website at; 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P20/S3379/FUL 
 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P21/S2504/LB 
 

2.1 Application P20/S3379/FUL 
 
Towersey Parish Council : Objects  
Original submission  

 Principle : Considers the smaller village has met its housing objectives to date 
and the proposed redevelopment would result in the loss of a community asset 
and threaten the long term viability of the pub 

 Highways : the loss of some parking for the pub and the need for large 
construction vehicles would result in an increased risk to highways safety; 
raising concerns over issues of flooding and drainage and protected species  
 

November 2020 amendment  

 Principle : Confirms the public house is currently subject to a pending 
application for an Asset of Community Value status. Notes, the barn operates 
distinctly and separately from the pub and is used by a range of local groups 
and organisations for pre-booked events and activities and caters for weddings, 

Page 50

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S3379/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P20/S3379/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P21/S2504/LB
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P21/S2504/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 3 

parties, funerals and music events that are independent of the activity in the 
Three Horseshoes. In this context the parish considers there to be two 
operational community facilities on the site the Barn and pub and as such the 
loss of the barn should be consider against policy CF1. It is felt the application 
does not contain sufficient or robust evidence to confirm compliance with policy 
CF1 and the proposed scheme is therefore not policy compliant. 

 Highways : the loss of parking for the pub would result in indiscriminate parking 
on the highways leading to problems of congestion for the local bus route 

 Technical details : the plans provided do not clearly demonstrate the garden 
areas for the proposed dwelling 

 Compatible mix of uses and amenity : Does not consider the proposed location 
for the new dwelling to form a compatible mix of uses across the site where 
issues of noise and nuisance may arise given the proximity of the proposed 
dwelling to the pub and its associated activities  
 

December 2020 amendment  

 Objects, previous comments remain  
 
June 2021 amendment (following listing)  

 Principle : Considers the smaller village has met its housing objectives to date 
and the proposed redevelopment would result in the loss of a locally valued 
community asset despite it not being formally currently listed as such in the 
registers. Considers the use of The Barn, for weddings, parties, funerals and 
music events, operates complementary to, but independent from the public 
house and to this extent considers there to be two community facilities on the 
site. The Bran should be protected as such under national and local 
development plan polices which seek the protection of Assets of Community 
Value 

 Highways : Notes, the loss of parking for the public house is a major concern as 
the existing customer parking space for the pub is insufficient and any reduction 
in the number of spaces is likely to be detrimental to public safety  

 Heritage impact : Considers the proposed alterations to this listed building and 
its curtilage in the Conservation Area affect it's setting negatively 

 
August 2021 minor amendment  

 No further comments  
 
September 2021 minor amendment  

 No further comments  
 

2.2 County Archaeological Services   
Original submission  

 Comments with no objections  
 
November 2020 amendment  

 No further comments  
 

June 2021 amendment (following listing)  

 No objections raised noting, the submitted amendments do not alter our original 
comments 

 
2.3 Countryside Officer   

Original submission  

 Holding objection requiring the submission of further surveys 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 4 

November 2020 amendment  

 Comments with no objections, noting the findings of the ecological report 
confirming no bats were found to be rooting in the barn 

 
December 2020 amendment  

 No further comments  
 
June 2021 amendment (following listing)  

 No objections raised, the amendments submitted do no alter the comments 
given in November 2020 

 
2.4 Drainage Officer 

Original submission  

 Holding objection requiring the submission of further information including, an 
FRA demonstrating the building could be safely habitable against all potential 
forms of flooding and furthermore, submit an Emergency Evacuation plan 

 
November 2020 amendment  

 Requests amendment to error on the submitted Emergency Evacuation plan 
 
December 2020 amendment  

 Requests amendment to the submitted information relating to surface water 
drainage, flood mitigation measures and the emergency evacuation plans  

 
February 2021 amendment  

 Comments - I am now content that pluvial flooding to the proposed dwelling has 
been addressed. Regarding pluvial flooding – climate change allowances are 
not applicable and there is no guidance to specify raising FFL in accordance 
with climate change allowances. I will require details such as a drainage layout, 
construction details, exceedance plan and levels to be submitted to address 
SWD and flood proofing/exclusion measures. However, this can be dealt with by 
way of the recommended conditions attached 
 

June 2021 amendment (following listing) 

 Holding objection, requesting an updated FRA to be submitted to address the 
pluvial flood risk to a height of 70.35 m 
 

October 2021 amendment (updated FRA) 

 No objections in principle requesting the submission of a flood resilience 
scheme 

 
November 2021 - addition of a flood resilience scheme  

 No objections subject to a compliance condition to see the implementation of 
the flood resilience measures proposed and the attached foul and surface water 
drainage conditions 

 
2.5 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) 

Original submission   

 Comments with no objections subject to the attached condition and informatives 
 
June 2021 amendment (following listing) 

 No objections raised subject to the attached conditions commenting, originally 
the proposal sought the provision of a three-bedroom dwelling this has now 
been altered to a two-bedroom dwelling, however two parking spaces have 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 5 

remained allocated for the proposal, this meets Oxfordshire County Council 
guidance. I would expect the proposed development to generate between one 
and two trips in the peak hours and this estimate is in general accordance with 
the Trics database. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact 
on the highway network. 

 
2.6 Countryside Access  

Original submission   

 No objections subject to the attached informatives noting, the access to the 
Three Horseshoes is a public footpath 

 
June 2021 amendment (following listing) 

 No further comments  
 

2.7 Economic Development (note this is logged as representation number 36 on 

P21/S2504/LB) 

Original submission   

 No comments  
 
June 2021 amendment (following listing) 

 Informally provided the comments below 
 
‘if the development does not affect the ongoing operations of the pub then no 
objections should be raised… neither policies EMP3 or CF1 would be affected where 
the development is limited to the outbuilding.’ 
 

2.8 Neighbours 
Original submission : 40 objections  

 Principle : Commenting, the local area has a number of recently permitted infill 
developments and the smaller village has met its housing objectives; 
considering the approval of the scheme proposed would set a precedent for 
further redevelopment proposal of the pub gardens shown to be retained; 
considers the proposed redevelopment and loss of a large section of existing 
beer gardens would result in the loss of a community asset and threaten the 
long term viability of the pub. Notes NPPF paragraph 92 which states that 
planning decisions should guard against the unnecessary loss of valued 
facilities and services and ensure that established facilities are retained for the 
benefit of the community; 

 Highways & access : the loss of parking areas at the pub would result in issues 
of manoeuvring for delivery vehicles and increase indiscriminate parking on the 
highway presenting a risk to the safety of pedestrians and leading to problems 
of congestion for the local bus route, emergency and agricultural vehicles; does 
not consider the existing access to be suitable for the addition of a residential 
unit; is concerned large construction vehicles would result in an increased risk to 
highways safety and damage to the publicly maintain highway and shared 
boundaries; considers the proposed development would obstruct an existing 
right of access for the neighbouring site and existing public right of way across 
the site 

 Compatible mix of uses and amenity : considers the proposed location for the 
new dwelling does not form a compatible mix of uses across the site where 
issues of noise and nuisance may arise given the proximity of the proposed 
dwelling to the pub and its associated activities, considers the proposed layout 
of the site would be incongruous to the existing pattern of development and 
result in an awkward relationship with the neighbouring public house with a 
limited degree of separation resulting in issues of overlooking 

Page 53

http://savvpspocl01.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk:9081/PlanningOfficerModule2/mainapplicationscreen?application=P21/S2504/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 6 

 Heritage impacts : commenting, the proposal would result harm to the fabric and 
character of the historic barn, finding the proposed scheme would harm the 
character of the site and surrounding conservation area 

 Flooding & drainage: notes the existing water course running through the pb 
gardens raising concerns over issues of flooding and drainage (providing photos 
of flooding at the barn within the past 7 years) 

 
November 2020 amendment : 21 objections 

 Principle : reaffirms the building is well used by the community for meetings and 
events and its conversion would result in the loss of a valued community asset 
commenting, the emerging neighbourhood plan does not include any plans to 
the see the pub and its site redeveloped for residential uses, considers the 
proposal to be contrary to the emerging Towersey Neighbourhood Plan  

 Highways & access : again, raises concerns over issues relating to parking 
provisions, highways safety 

 Heritage impacts :considers the barn to be a non-designated heritage asset 
which makes a significant contribution to the character of the surrounding 
conservation area, considers the barn should be listed and questions why 
Historic England have not been consulted; considers the raised floor levels 
required to meet flood risk requirement would result in harmful alterations to the 
fabric to the historic building  

 Flooding & drainage: considers, there is a high risk of surface (pluvial) water 
flooding at the site, believing the images which have been supplied during the 
consultation responses demonstrate that flooding can occur and that this 
flooding further exceeds the spatial extent shown on the EA maps; raises 
concerns over the foul water drainage scheme and resulting impact on the 
existing drainage systems at the neighbouring properties     

 Amenity standards : considers the raised floor levels required to meet flood risk 
requirement would present issues of usable floor space for the proposed 
dwelling; considers the proposed location for the new dwelling does not form a 
compatible mix of uses across the site where issues of noise and nuisance may 
arise given the proximity of the proposed dwelling to the pub and its associated 
activities 
 

December 2020 amendment : 2 objections 

 All previous objections remain and are re-iterated, further comments are listed 
below 

 Flooding & drainage : notes the submitted Flood Risk Assessment does not 
account for climate change 

 Highways & access : while highways don’t object they do note that the parking 
will be below standard 

 Amenity : due to the requirements to allow water to flow in times of flood the 
proposed dwelling would not be able to erect fences for privacy/security   
 

June 2021 amendment (following listing) : 42 - objections  

 Previous objections regarding the loss of the community asset, loss of 
employment, impact on the viability of the pub, compatible mix of uses, amenity, 
highways, loss of car and cycle parking, flooding and drainage are reiterated, 
the amendments submitted do no alter the comments to date 

 Raises concerns that the plans proposed would grant a change of use of the 
land across the entire site, allowing for further residential development of the 
pub in the future  

 Considers the change of use, conversion and associated residential gardens 
and means of enclosure, would harm the existing character of the site and 

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 7 

conservation area and result in a cramped form of development due to its 
proximity to the existing public house 

 Makes reference to appeal decision APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 Bennell 
Developments vs Cambridge City Council with key matters discussed being, the 
loss of a local facility important in sustaining the social life of the community; 
and if it would, whether such a facility would be viable to operate attached as 
Appendix E 

 Comments on the lack of natural light and ventilation for the proposed dwelling 
due to the requirements to preserve the historic fabric of the listed building        

 Notes inaccuracies in the D&A 

 Raises concerns that a drain from Fairies Close which runs under The Barn may 
be compromised by the conversion works 

 
August 2021 amendment : 4 objections  

 All previous objections remain and are re-iterated  

 Heritage impact : comments, The barn dates back over 400 years being 
originally a tithe barn… it is therefore one of the oldest buildings in the village… 
wychert (a local form of cob) is very characteristic of the area and this is the only 
publicly accessible building of this construction in the village. In this context 
considers, the conversion proposed would result in alterations which harm the 
historic and architectural interest of the building. Notes the comments from the 
consulting conservation officer regarding the degree of harm to the listed 
building and in this context considers that where the development is bringing no 
benefits to the village… there can be no reasons to approve  

 Highways & access : questions the views of the consulting OCC highways 
liaison officer and asks that re-visit the site on a summer's weekend. Notes 
Towersey is a working farming community with heavy vehicles often using the 
adjoining highway which may be obstructed by additional on street parking due 
to loss of on-site parking proposed  

 
September 2021 amendment : 18 - objections  

 All previous objections remain and are re-iterated 

 Highlights a number of research pieces that demonstrate ‘stronger community 
cohesion in parishes that still have pubs’ and notes that pubs in general are 
important social and cultural focal points for the villages  

 Contests planning statement regarding the lack of revenue provided by The 
Barn with photographic evidence of events and parties and of sums paid 

 
2.9 Application P21/S2504/LB 

 
Towersey Parish Council : Objects  
Original listed building application submission (following listing)  

 Principle : Considers the smaller village has met its housing objectives to date 
and the proposed redevelopment would result in the loss of a locally valued 
community asset despite it not being formally currently listed as such in the 
registers. Considers the use of The Barn, for weddings, parties, funerals and 
music events, operates complementary to, but independent from the public 
house and to this extent considers there to be two community facilities on the 
site. The Bran should be protected as such under national and local 
development plan polices which seek the protection of Assets of Community 
Value 

 Highways : Notes, the loss of parking for the public house is a major concern as 
the existing customer parking space for the pub is insufficient and any reduction 
in the number of spaces is likely to be detrimental to public safety  

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 8 

 Heritage impact : Considers the proposed alterations to this listed building and 
its curtilage in the Conservation Area affect it's setting negatively 

 
August 2021 minor amendment  

 No further comments  
 
September 2021 minor amendment  

 No further comments  
 

2.10 Conservation Officer  
June 2021 amendment (following listing) 

 Objects commenting, I can see no justification at the present time for a scheme 
that would result in any harm to the listed building. There are very limited public 
benefits associated with the provision of one dwelling, and these do not in my 
view outweigh the loss of the building’s community function by its association 
with the pub. On this basis I do not consider that the scheme is supportable in 
heritage terms 

 
August 2021 minor amendment  

 Notes, the scheme proposed would result in a low-level harm to the significance 
of the listed building. Paragraphs 199, 200 and 201 of the NPPF should be 
applied; officers should be satisfied that the scheme would present public 
benefits sufficient to outweigh the less than substantial harm to the significance 
of the listed building.  

  
September 2021 minor amendment  

 Comments, the amended scheme has reduced further the harm previously 
identified. It is considered that all mitigation possible to convert this barn to 
residential use has been undertaken and that this scheme represents the least 
harmful means of converting the barn to residential use. A low level of less than 
substantial harm remains and arises from the loss of historic fabric where the 
new access will be created between the barn and the outbuilding.  

  
2.11 Neighbours 

Original listed building application submission (following listing) : 42 - objections  

 Previous objections regarding the loss of the community asset, loss of 
employment, impact on the viability of the pub, compatible mix of uses, amenity, 
highways, loss of car and cycle parking, flooding and drainage are reiterated, 
the amendments submitted do no alter the comments to date 

 Raises concerns that the plans proposed would grant a change of use of the 
land across the entire site, allowing for further residential development of the 
pub in the future  

 Considers the change of use, conversion and associated residential gardens 
and means of enclosure, would harm the existing character of the site and 
conservation area and result in a cramped form of development due to its 
proximity to the existing public house 

 Makes reference to appeal decision APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 Bennell 
Developments vs Cambridge City Council with key matters discussed being, the 
loss of a local facility important in sustaining the social life of the community; 
and if it would, whether such a facility would be viable to operate attached as 
Appendix E 

 Comments on the lack of natural light and ventilation for the proposed dwelling 
due to the requirements to preserve the historic fabric of the listed building        

 Notes inaccuracies in the D&A 

Page 56

http://savvpspocl01.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk:9081/PlanningOfficerModule2/consulteecomment?application=P21/S2504/LB&consulteeNo=3


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 9 

 Raises concerns that a drain from Fairies Close which runs under The Barn may 
be compromised by the conversion works 

 
August 2021 amendment : 4 objections  

 All previous objections remain and are re-iterated  

 Heritage impact : comments, The barn dates back over 400 years being 
originally a tithe barn… it is therefore one of the oldest buildings in the village… 
wychert (a local form of cob) is very characteristic of the area and this is the only 
publicly accessible building of this construction in the village. In this context 
considers, the conversion proposed would result in alterations which harm the 
historic and architectural interest of the building - Notes the comments from the 
consulting conservation officer regarding the degree of harm to the listed 
building and in this context considers that where the development is bringing no 
benefits to the village… there can be no reasons to approve  

 Highways & access : questions the views of the consulting OCC highways 
liaison officer and asks that re-visit the site on a summer's weekend. Notes 
Towersey is a working farming community with heavy vehicles often using the 
adjoining highway which may be obstructed by additional on street parking due 
to loss of on-site parking proposed  

 
September 2021 amendment : 18 - objections  

 All previous objections remain and are re-iterated 

 Highlights a number of research pieces that demonstrate ‘stronger community 
cohesion in parishes that still have pubs’ and notes that pubs in general are 
important social and cultural focal points for the villages  

 Contests planning statement regarding the lack of revenue provided by The 
barn with photographic evidence of events and parties and of sums paid 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P21/S1553/PEM – Pre application response issued (14/05/2021)  

Conversion of outbuilding to a dwelling utilising existing access, with associated 
landscaping and parking.  
 
P16/S2817/PEM – Pre application advice (22/09/2016) 
Erection of single two storey dwelling and creation of new access 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 Not applicable  

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
CF1  -  Safeguarding Community Facilities 
EMP3  -  Retention of employment land 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H8  -  Housing in the Smaller Villages 
H16  -  Backland and Infill Development and Redevelopment 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 

Page 57

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PAV_Summary.jsp?REF=P21/S1553/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2817/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 10 

DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV1 - Landscape  
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV4  -  Watercourses 
ENV5 - Green Infrastructure in New Developments 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 
ENV7 - Listed buildings  
ENV8  -  Conservation Areas 
ENV9 - Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
ENV12 - Pollution - Potential Sources of Pollution 
EP3  -  Waste collection and Recycling 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Emerging Towersey Neighbourhood Plan 
 
Towersey Neighbourhood Area was formally designated on 24 August 2016. The 
Parish Council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with the 
local community. This is to give the plan a direction and draft policies that will form the 
neighbourhood plan. With no formally drafted or made policies to date, the plan carries 
very limited weight in decision making.  

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

 Developer Contributions SPD  
Technical housing standards - nationally described space standard 
Oxfordshire County Council Parking Standards for New Residential Development 
Sections 88 - Localism Act 2011 

  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 

 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

  
Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Current policy 

 Principle  

 Impact on the historic and architectural interest of the listed building  

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity  

 Access & parking  

 Biodiversity and protected species 

 Drainage and flooding   

 Other material planning considerations 

Page 58

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/88
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/88


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 11 

6.2 Current Policy 
The acceptability of the development proposed is assessed under national and local 
development plan policies which allow for the change of use of existing employment 
land to C3 use ( residential) and the redevelopment and conversion of existing Grade II 
listed buildings within the built-up limits of the ‘smaller village’ of Towersey, as set out in 
Appendix 7 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035.  
 
Smaller villages as defined in the settlement hierarchy have no defined requirement to 
contribute towards delivering additional housing (beyond windfall and infill 
development) to meet the overall housing requirement of South Oxfordshire in 
accordance with policy H8 of the SOLP.  Policy H8 of the adopted Local Plan supports 
developments within the smaller villages in accordance with Policy H16.  
 
Policy H16 of the adopted Local Plan relates to backland and infill development and 
redevelopment.  This states that within smaller villages and other villages, development 
should be limited to infill and the redevelopment of previously developed land or 
buildings.  Infill is defined as part of this policy as the filling of a small gap in an 
otherwise continuous built-up frontage or on sites within settlements where the site is 
closely surrounded by buildings.  The scale of the infill should be appropriate to its 
location.  
 

6.3 Principle : loss of a community facility  
Paragraphs 92 to 103 of the NPPF require planning polices to promote healthy and 
safe communities, specifically paragraph 93 requires decision making to guard against 
the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this would 
reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs. In accordance with these 
aims policy CF1 of the SOLP ensures existing essential community facilities and / or 
services, including but not limited to drinking establishments and halls or meeting 
places for the principal use of the local community, will not be lost through change of 
use or redevelopment.  
 

6.4 The proposed scheme would involve the loss of the existing barn which currently and 
historically has provided additional function room space associated with the Three 
Horse Shoes Public House. I note the number of concerns raised during the public 
consultation process with regards to the loss of the existing facility to residential 
development, which has clearly over the years provided space for important and locally 
valued private functions such as birthdays, weddings and other social occasions.  
 

6.5 Over the past two years a number of applications have been submitted to the council 
seeking for the public house and ancillary barn to be listed as an Asset of Community 
Value. In discussing the merits of the most recent application the council’s Head of 
Corporate Services notes, a pub being used and operating as a pub is not a reason in 
its own right for listing in an ACV. Whilst many pubs will operate at the heart of their 
communities, for example providing a venue for various groups to meet, and in their 
very operating nature engender social interactions, such use is not non-ancillary to their 
principal use as a public house. The reasonable test is whether there are uses taking 
place that are non-ancillary to the use and function of the public house, and on the 
basis of the information provided in the nomination, the extent to which this is the case. 
I am minded to agree with the final conclusions of the council’s Head of Corporate 
Services on this matter and consider, the existing and historic uses of public house and 
‘The Barn’ are not in their own right non-ancillary uses of the asset (The Three Horse 
Shoes Public House), sufficient in either quantum or scale to justify a listing and / or 
appraisal of pub and barn as an Asset of Community Value, in accordance with section 
88 of the Localism Act 2011.  
 

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 12 

6.6 This aside, I am in no doubt that more generally the existing public house provides an 
essential community facility and service both because it is the only drinking 
establishment in a settlement and where it is fundamental to the quality, convenience, 
and enjoyment of everyday life in a settlement. In this context the public house is 
afforded protection under policy CF1 of the SOLP irrespective of its status as Asset of 
Community Value. Further, I note Appeal Ref: APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 highlighted by 
a member of the local community during the public consultation process as a point of 
comparison. In this case, the Planning Inspectorate dismissed an appeal for the change 
of use of a pub to C3 residential housing finding the LPA’s development plan to be 
silent on this matter and that the proposed scheme would result in the loss of a 
community facility. In contrast, the SOLP specifically identifies public houses as 
community facilities and outlines a clear and rigorous process for their loss through 
change of use under relevant policy CF1. A full copy of this appeal decision is attached 
as Appendix F.  
 

6.7 However, in this case the existing public house is shown to be retained, alongside the 
development proposed and the existing barn / ancillary function room proposed to 
change use does not provide a hall or meeting place for the principal use of the local 
community, which is currently only accessible via private hire, in connection with the 
commercial uses at the site. In this context I do not consider the existing barn / 
outbuilding to be a drinking establishment, hall or meeting place for the principal use of 
the local community in its own right and / or an essential community facility as 
understood by policy CF1 of the SOLP.  
 

6.8 I note Towersey Memorial Hall (as advertised on its website) is a newly refurbished and 
well-equipped village hall (with Wi-Fi) for hire.  Situated at the heart of Towersey 
village… The hall is equipped with Wi-Fi providing free internet access… making it is an 
ideal venue for functions, children’s parties, charity or club events, weddings and for 
informal business gatherings receptions. In accordance with the aims of the NPPF I am 
satisfied that the development proposed would not result in the unnecessary loss of 
valued facilities and services, which are not currently available more readily in the 
settlement nor would it reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs.   
 

6.9 Principle : loss of employment land  
Paragraphs 119 to 125 of the NPPF clarifies planning policies should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding 
and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions, and 
requires local planning authorities to take a positive approach to applications for 
alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not allocated for a specific 
purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified development needs. In 
particular, they should support proposals to use retail and employment land for homes 
in areas of high housing demand, provided this would not undermine key economic 
sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of settlements, where they are otherwise 
compatible with other policies in the development plan as a whole. 
 

6.10 Policy EMP3 of the SOLP requires existing employment land to be retained in order to 
promote and grow a balanced, sustainable economy and local services and applies 
strict criteria for proposals which seek the redevelopment or change of use of 
employment land to non- employment uses. The existing barn provides a function room 
operating in connection with the existing commercial use of the pub. The pub and 
approximately two thirds of the existing beer gardens is shown to be retained as part of 
the proposed scheme and the primary function of the commercial uses of the site are to 
be retained. During the course of this application, the council’s economic development 
team have offered informal views on the proposed scheme commenting, if the 
development does not affect the ongoing operations of the pub then no objections 

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 13 

should be raised… neither policies EMP3 or CF1 would be affected where the 
development is limited to the outbuilding. In this context I am satisfied that the proposed 
scheme accords with the council’s polices which seek to protect existing employment 
uses and the aims of the NPPF and provides a new housing unit in an area of high 
housing demand which would not undermine the existing key economic sector at the 
site or the vitality and viability of the settlement as a whole.  

   
6.11 Principle : redevelopment and residential infill  

Policy H16 of the SOLP 2035 relates to infill and redevelopment, which it permits within 
“smaller villages” such as Towersey. Infill development is defined by Policy H16 as ‘the 
filling of a small gap in an otherwise continuous built-up frontage or on other sites within 
settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings.  The scale of infill should 
be appropriate to its location’. The existing building shown to be converted forms the 
end of a short line of buildings fronting onto the Chinnor Road, set well back from the 
highway behind good sized gardens to the front. The site lies within the built-up limits of 
the settlement and is closely surrounding by buildings on all sides. In my view, the 
proposed scheme accords with the definition of infill as outlined above and as such the 
principle of ‘new’ housing on the site is supported by policies STRAT1, H1 and H16 of 
the SOLP 2035.   
 

 
 

6.12 Impact on the historic and architectural interest of the listed building and its site 
The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 
building, its setting and / or the wider historic or archaeological environment, the local 
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the area or 
building, its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
either possesses. Paragraphs 189 to 208 of the NPPF reflect this requirement, stating 
that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated area and / or heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest, which are 
demonstrably of equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be 
considered subject to the policies for designated heritage assets. 

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 14 

6.13 Oxfordshire County Council Archaeological Services (SODC) has been formally 
consulted on this application and notes, the site is located in an area of archaeological 
interest. However, the development is of a relatively small scale and I therefore 
consider that there are no archaeological constraints to this scheme. 

 
6.14 The barn and attached outbuilding have been designated Grade II listed during the 

course of this application for their special architectural and historic interest. In this event 
the planning aplication application remained live whilst the applicant, their agent and 
heritage consultant prepared a revised scheme which was submitted for pre application 
advice under P21/S1553/PEM. Specific advice was sought from the council’s 
conservation team on the acceptability of the proposed scheme, with regards to its 
impact of the historic character of the listed building and the contribution this makes to 
the surrounding conservation area. A full copy of the council’s response is attached as 
Appendix G.  
 

6.15 In light of the advice provided, the scheme was revised and submitted to the council for 
consideration under the current listed building application.  Having reviewed the 
scheme proposed which saw the first floor accommodation removed the council’s  
conservation officer raised a number of concerns including; the loss of historic fabric 
due to the creation of a doorway opening between the barn and the outbuilding; lack of 
clarity on the proposed partial removal / alteration of the elm timber partition; the visual 
and logistic impact of the glazed structure siting alongside the unrendered witchert 
walls; visual impact of the proposed rooflights; lack of flood resilience measures 
proposed and the potential conflict between this and the preservation of this listed 
building; lack of domestic storge arrangements and the potential impact of these on the 
setting of the listed building. Also noted was the value of the barn as a venue for the 
Towersey Folk Festival as referenced in the list description, and a proposal to add a 
bronze plaque to commemorate the barn as a location of the festival. 
 

6.16 Following this, further amendments have been submitted to the council for 
consideration, details of which are available to view on the council’s website at 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P21/S2504/LB . The scheme now proposed involves the loss of historic fabric by 
way of the doorway opening between the barn and the outbuilding retained; heritage 
justification provided for the partial removal / alteration of the elm timber partition; 
further justification provided for the glazed structure siting alongside the unrendered 
witchert walls and an agreement in principle to accept the conservation officer’s 
suggested pre-commencement condition relating to these details; the rooflights 
removed; flood resilience measures proposed and found to be acceptable, providing 
some planning gain with regards to the protection of the listed building going forward; 
modest outbuilding for domestic storage proposed within the curtilage of the proposed 
dwelling and deemed to have no significant impact on the setting of the listed building; 
the addition of a bronze plaque to commemorate the barn as a location of the festival is 
now proposed.  
 

6.17 Having reviewed the final scheme submitted the conservation officer is satisfied that, all 
mitigation possible to convert this barn to residential use has 
been undertaken and that this scheme represents the least harmful means of 
converting the barn to residential use. Noting, a low level of less than substantial harm 
remains and arises from the loss of historic fabric where the new access will be created 
between the barn and the outbuilding.  
 

6.18 In accordance with paragraph 202 of the NPPF, where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 

Page 62

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PAV_Summary.jsp?REF=P21/S1553/PEM
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P21/S2504/LB
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P21/S2504/LB


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 15 

where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. In my view, the removal of the 
modern non-hydroscopic building materials across the building and their replacement 
with appropriate heritage materials, the addition of appropriate flood resilience 
measures which will ensure the protection of the listed building in times of flooding and 
the provision of a single dwelling in an area of high housing demand present modest 
public benefits which, on balance, outweigh the low level of less than substantial harm 
to the listed building.  
 

6.19 Design and character : landscape setting  
The existing pub and barn are set back from the adjoining highway behind a large beer 
garden laid to lawn, bounded by a stream, mature hedging and neighbouring boundary 
wall. This area currently comprises an area of important green space which goes some 
way to inform the setting of the listed barn, the surrounding conservation area and the 
wider rural character of the small settlement, making it worthy of some protection. 
 

  
 

6.20 The site plan proposed sees the area of open green space to the front sub-divided, with 
approximately one third given over to the private gardens of the proposed dwelling, as 
marked with the area shaded on the plan below. Three modest timber framed storge 
buildings / sheds are to be located to the side and rear of the dwelling to accommodate 
any domestic paraphernalia, with the small gardens and patio area to the rear of the 
dwelling to be enclosed with a combination of soft planting and post and rail fences. 
The large gardens to the front of the proposed dwelling are to remain largely unaltered, 
are to be separated from the retained pub gardens by a line of soft planting and include 
the provision of a small bridge to provide access across the existing stream.   

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 16 

 
6.21 The scheme proposed sees the existing area of open green space to the front of the 

public house (and barn) retained. In my view, this is an important part of the proposed 
scheme and, in this case, I consider it reasonable and necessary to attach conditions 
relating to the removal of permitted development rights for the addition of outbuildings, 
hardstanding, gates, walls and fences under the provisions of Part 1 Classes E and F 
and Part 2 Class A of the Town & Country General Permitted Development Order 2015 
(As amended).  
 
Subject to the suggested conditions I am satisfied the proposed scheme would 
preserve the existing setting or the listed building and the wider surrounding 
conservation area and would not harm the landscape setting and rural character of the 
wider settlement in accordance with policies STRAT1, DES1, DES2, DES3, ENV6, 
ENV7 and ENV8 of the SOLP and technical guidance set out in the SODG.  
 

6.22 Design and character : existing building  
The scheme now proposed sees the external character and appearance of the existing 
building(s) largely retained besides the oversized glazing details in place of the existing 
barn doors across the north and east elevations and the addition of a domestic door 
across the front (west) elevation.  

    
Existing elevations  

    
Proposed elevations  

 
The proposed alterations are modest in relation to the existing building.  Given the 
visual quietness, design and quality of the alterations proposed I do not consider the 
proposed scheme would result in harm the external character of the existing of Grade II 
listed building(s). Further, I consider the contribution the existing building makes to the 
historic character of the wider surrounding conservation area will be preserved.  
 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 17 

In my opinion the proposals form an appropriate visual relationship with the existing 
building and would not harm the character or appearance of the Grade II listed building 
or the wider surrounding conservation area. The proposal therefore complies with 
policies STRAT1, DES1, DES2, DES3, ENV6, ENV7 and ENV8 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) and technical guidance set out in the South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide (SODG). 
 

6.23 Residential amenity : impact on the surrounding residential properties  
Given the scale, design and position of the proposed conservation of the existing barn 
and outbuilding to a dwelling, I do not consider that the proposed development would 
result in any harm to the amenity of the neighboring properties in terms of light, outlook 
or privacy. 
 

6.24 Residential amenity : impact on amenity of the proposed dwelling   
I note the concerns about the amenity of the occupiers of the proposed dwelling having 
regard to the proximity of the retained public house and large beer gardens. However, 
the existing site is surrounded by residential dwellinghouses and gardens, many of 
which have shared boundaries with the existing access lane, parking areas and beer 
gardens serving the pub. In this context, I consider the proposed arrangement and mix 
of uses across the site to be largely consistent with the existing pattern of development 
in the surrounding area and do not consider the proposed scheme would result in any 
undue harm to the amenity of the occupiers of the proposed dwelling when compared 
with the residential properties surrounding the pub.  
 

 
 

6.25 Biodiversity and protected species  
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 confirms the 
public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent 
with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. 
Paragraphs 174 and 179 to 182 of the NPPF reflect this requirement, stating that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on protected features of a habitats 
site and / or a protected species, the local planning authority shall have special regard 
to conservation of biodiversity.   
 

Page 65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/section/40


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 18 

6.26 The proposed scheme includes the retention of the existing watercourse, areas of soft 
landscaping and existing native hedging across the site. At the request of the council’s 
ecologist this application includes the submission of an ecological survey and 
preliminary roost assessment which found no evidence of bats roosting within the barn 
and outbuilding shown to be converted. In light of this the council’s ecologist is satisfied 
that the proposed scheme would not result in harm to any protected species and or 
their habitats and raises no objections to the proposed scheme in accordance with 
policies STRAT1, ENV3 and ENV12 of the SOLP and the NPPF.  
  

6.27 Drainage and flooding  
The application site does not lie inside of any flood zones but due to the flat topography 
across the site and existing watercourse, is at significant risk of flooding from surface 
water extent (fluvial flooding). Paragraphs 159 to 169 of the NPPF confirms 
inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing 
development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Where 
development may be appropriate in such areas, the development should be made safe 
for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Local plan policies ENV12 and 
E4 of the SOLP 2035 are informed by a strategic flood risk assessment and look to 
manage flood risk from all sources. In accordance with the NPPF and guidance set out 
in the NPPG for applications lying outside of any flood zones policy E4 of the SOLP 
does not require the ‘sequential test’ to be applied. However, this policy requires all 
development proposals to be assessed against the current South Oxfordshire Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment or any updates and the Oxfordshire Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy to address locally significant flooding. The local planning 
authority will have special regard to the cumulative impacts in, or affecting, local areas 
susceptible to flooding and take account of advice from the Environment Agency and 
other relevant flood risk management authorities. For all development proposals 
affected by flooding appropriate mitigation and management measures must be 
approved by the LPA, implemented and maintained.   
 

6.28 As noted by the council’s consulting drainage engineer on review of the originally 
submitted scheme, there are photographs appended by Field View House (attached as 
Appendix C), that show the barn, external greenward, access / hardstanding areas and 
adjacent highway under a consistent level of flood water. This consistent level of 
flooding corresponds with the flat topography across the entire site and surrounding 
locality.  
 

6.29 Having reviewed the proposed scheme now under consideration as part of this 
application, updated Drainage Strategy & Flood Risk Statement (updated 2020-12-02), 
proposed flood resilience measures (as shown on drawing 20-3210-102 Rev P12), 
Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan (dated  30/11/2020) and Infiltration SuDS 
GeoReport the council’s consulting drainage engineer is satisfied that the proposed 
development accords with the current South Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment and the Oxfordshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, would not 
increase the likelihood of locally significant flooding and that the flood resilience 
measures proposed, provide appropriate mitigation and management measures 
suitable for the water sensitive development in times of flooding.  
 

6.30 To ensure the proper provision of foul and surface water drainage as part of the 
proposed development and to ensure no encroachment of the foul drainage system into 
the surface water drainage system and flooding and pollution is not exacerbated in the 
locality this recommendation of approval is subject to foul and surface water drainage 
conditions, in accordance with policies EP4 and ENV12 of the SOLP and paragraphs 
159 to 169 of the NPPF. Provisionally, the applicant and their agent have agreed to the 
suggested pre-commencement conditions.  

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 19 

6.31 Access and parking : highways  
The final views provided by Oxfordshire County Council’s Highways Liaison Officer 
confirm,  
 
The proposal seeks the change in use of an existing outbuilding. A number of revised 
plans have been submitted prior to the original Highway Authority comments in which a 
recommendation of no objection subject to condition was made. After reviewing the 
latest drawing, the Highway Authority does not change its overall recommendation. 
 
Originally the proposal sought the provision of a three-bedroom dwelling this has now 
been altered to a two-bedroom dwelling, however two parking spaces have remained 
allocated for the proposal, this meets Oxfordshire County Council guidance. 
 
I would expect the proposed development to generate between one and two trips in the 
peak hours and this estimate is in general accordance with the Trics database. 
 
The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network. 
After investigation and reviewing the supplied documents, the Highway Authority has 
no objection subject to the suggested condition(s) being applied to any permission 
which may be granted on the basis of highway safety. 
 
In light of the views expressed above, subject to the suggested parking condition and 
highways informatives being attached I am satisfied the development proposed would 
not present any risk to highway safety.   
 

6.32 Access : public right of way  
Having reviewed the proposed scheme Oxfordshire County Councils Public Rights of 
Way Officer is satisfied that subject to the development being undertaken in 
accordance with recommendations made, by way of the attached informatives, the 
development proposed would not present any risk to users of the existing Towersey 
Footpath 9.  
 

6.33 Other material planning considerations 
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development has to demonstrate how they are 
seeking to reduce greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape and planting. This is a conversion of an existing listed building with limited 
scope for reducing greenhouse emissions beyond any assessment made under Part L 
of Building Control Regulations. 

  
6.34 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 The proposed development is liable to pay CIL.  

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 In your officer’s opinion the proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan 

policies and, subject to the suggested conditions, the proposed development would be 
acceptable in terms of its relationship to the character of the existing listed building, its 
site, setting and the wider conservation area. It is also acceptable in terms of its impact 
on neighbouring amenity, highways safety, users of the existing public footpath network 
and locally significant flooding. Subject to implementation in accordance with the 
approved details the building is considered suitable for conversion to a dwelling house. 
 
 
 
  

 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 20 

8.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
8.1 Application P20/S3379/FUL 

Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions.  
 

 1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission 
2 : Development in accordance with approved plans  
3 : Landscaping (including hard surfacing and boundary treatment) to be agreed 
4 : Surface water drainage works (details required) 
5 : Foul drainage works (details required) 
6 : Flood resilience measures implementation 
7 : External ducts and flues (details required) 
8 : Joinery Details 
9 : Keep public right of way free from obstruction 
10 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained  
11 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc 
12 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 2 Class A) - no walls, fences etc 
13 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class F) - no hardstanding 
 

 Application P21/S2504/LB 
Grant Listed Building Consent subject to the following conditions.  
 
1 : Commencement 3 years - Listed Building Consent 
2 : Approved plans (listed building)  
3 : External ducts and flues (details required) 
4 : Joinery Details 
5 : Submission of details in relation to works to listed building 
 

 

 

Author:          Caitlin Phillpotts 

Email:            Planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Contact No:   01235 422600   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 69

Agenda Item 10P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB



CL 69.92
BTIC

CL 70.05
BTIC

EP

EP

EP

EP

G
 6

9
.9

5

G
 6

9
.9

3

G 69.84

G 70.22

G
 7

0
.4

2

G 70.44

CL 70.04
IC

CL 69.99
IC UTL

CL 69.99
IC FILLED

CL 69.98
IC FW

CL 70.32
IC DAMAGED

CL 70.47
IC obs

CL 70.39

CL 70.51
IC FW

CL 70.08
IC UTL

ICS

TP

CL 70.08
IC UTL

Overhead cable

Overhead cable

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
ca

bl
e

O
v
e
rh

e
a
d
 c

ab
le

Overhead cable

Overhead cable

IC UTL

IL 69.26
100

CL 70.00
IC FW

IL 69.42
100

IL 69.76
100

Overhead cable

Gate

PF 1
.0

Gate

70.12
FH

HD 74.19

70.25
WM

70.04
SC

70.04
SC

70.62
SV Gas

69.94
WM

69.95
WM

69.97
WM

70.04
WM

70.04
WM

70.46
WM

C
 h

 i
 n

 n
 o

 r
  
 R

 o
 a

 d
 

Play area

Decking

C
a
n
o
p
y

RWall 0.4

C
B
F
 2

.0

S
te

p
s

Wall 1.4 Gas tank

Concrete

W
a
ll 

2
.2

Fence 2.0

Concrete

Tank 

Grass

Grass

Step

F
ir
e
 e

sc
ap

e

Gate

Line of fir trees ht 13

R O A D

St
re

am

Culvert

BBQ

Paving

PKF 1.0

Play area

T
ra

ce
s 

o
f 
ch

a
n
n
el

S
tr
ea

m

Stre
am

Entrance to Munarah & Field View House

W
al
l

IRF 1.2

Bushes

C
B
F
 1

.8

Concrete

Wall 0.6

Hedge 1.4 

Trellis fence 1.8

CBF 2.0

H
e
d
g
e
 1

.4
 

H
e
d
g
e
 1

.4
 

RWall

Bank edge

Wall

RWall

Bank edge

Wall 1.4

C
B
F
 1

.8

CBF 1.8

P
a
th

Entrance to property

Grass/gravel

Hedge 1.6

Line of fir trees ht 13

PRF 0.5

Culvert

Stre
am

S
tr

ea
m

W
a
ll 

0
.6

C
 h

 i
 n

 n
 o

 r
  
 R

 o
 a

 d
 

Entrance to Argyle Lodge

Grass

Grass

Grass

RW
al
l

(C
u
lv

er
t 
un

de
r)

Concrete

Tarmac/gravel

Concrete

Grass

Tarmac

BO

BO

Guide post (footpath)
P

P

P

P

P

STAY

STAY

Three

Horseshoes

H1

Munarah

The

Horseshoe

Cottage

Outbuilding

Garage

House 1

FFL +70.02

H1

PH Parking

(14 Spaces)

0.9m post

& rail fence

Native mix

hedging

H1

Garden

Pub

Garden

Proposed Site / Roof Layout

PF
 1

.0

Sand pit

New

pedestrian

footbridge.

Garden

Store

Bin Store

 Cycle

Store

Soft Landscaping

Indicates

new trees /

shrubs to

LA approval.

Indicates

existing trees

/ shrubs.

Hard Landscaping

Block paving.

Tarmac

Boundary treatment details

Bin / Cycle / Garden store details

9
0
0

0.9m high timber

post and rail fence.

Timber fascia

and felt roof

Stained timber

cladding

1
8
0
0

Front

Elevation
Side

Elevation

Plan

Stained

timber doors

Front

Elevation

Side

Elevation

Timber fascia

and felt roof

Stained timber

cladding &

door

Plan

2
0
0
0

1
1
0
0

2000

*

Proposed

West Elevation

7.

1.

External Materials

Natural timber weatherboarding.

Stained timber entrance door

with glazed sidelights.

Stained timber windows and doors.

Stone lintels.

Slate roof tiles to match existing.

Black painted cast iron rainwater

goods to match existing.

Brass plaque alongside pub entrance

to 'celebrate' The Towersey Folk

Felstival

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

PLC ARCHITECTS

NOT TO BE SCALED.  DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE

COPYRIGHT RESERVED  2019

Revision Description

Date

Scale:

DateChecked By

Revision:

Date

Drawing No.

Drawn By

Drawing Title :

Approved By

SCALING ONLY FOR LOCAL AUTHORITY PURPOSES 

Date

©

NOTES

Project :

Client :

GENERAL NOTES:
1. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE OTHER RELEVANT

CONSULTANTS DRAWINGS.

2.ALL FINISHES ARE  TO CONFORM TO THE CURRENT BUILDING REGULATIONS.

3. REFER TO A SEPARATE DOCUMENT FOR THE DESIGNERS RISK ASSESMENT.

4. ALL WORKS OR MATERIALS INDICATED ON THIS DRAWING ARE TO BE TO THE

LATEST RELEVANT BRITISH STANDARDS AND CARRIED OUT IN ACCORDANCE

WITH THE BRITISH STANDARDS CODES OF PRACTICE OR RECOGNIZED

INSTITUTE OR TRADE ASSOCIATION RECOMMENDATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS.

Lansdowne House

25-26 Hampshire Terrace

Portsmouth PO1 2QF

Hampshire England

Tel:

E-Mail:

Web:

(023) 92 755 333

admin@plcarchitects.com

www.plcarchitects.com

Dwn Chkd

The Three Horseshoes,

Chinnor Road, Towersey,

Thame, OX9 3QY

Proposed Site Layout

TH Aug '20

20 - 3210 - 100 P8 1:100 @ A1

1:200 scale

0 5m 10m

P4
Nov

2020
Updated to reflect revised FFL TH

P5
Mar

2021
Updated to reflect revised plan

proposals
JCB

P6
May

2021
Updated to reflect revised plan

proposals
JCB

P7 27.5.21
Updated to reflect revised plan

proposals
JCB

Image Proposed Cycle & Garden Shed

P8 2.9.21
Updated to reflect revised plan

proposals
JCB

Appendix B

P
age 70



70.09

70.17

Datum 68.00m

70.04

70.07

Datum 68.00m Datum 68.00m

Datum 68.00m Datum 68.00m

Datum 68.00m

Datum 68.00mDatum 68.00m

Ref. Point

Rotation Angle 342.51864506

T E X T

Key Plan (Not to Scale)

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

8

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

1

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

2

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

3

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

4

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

5

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

6

 

E

 

L

 

E

 

V

 

A

 

T

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

7

E L E V A T I O N  1 E L E V A T I O N  2 E L E V A T I O N  3

E L E V A T I O N  4 E L E V A T I O N  5

E L E V A T I O N  6 E L E V A T I O N  7

E L E V A T I O N  8

Detail obscured

by vegetation

Detail obscured

by vegetation

Location:

Survey

Encompass Surveys Ltd

Unit 2

Talisman Business Centre

Duncan Road

Park Gate, Southampton

Hampshire SO31 7GA

Tel: 023 80692002 Email: info@encompass-surveys.co.uk

Fax: 023 80697125 Website: encompass-surveys.co.uk

Client:

Survey type: Scale:

Drawing ref: Date:

Drawn/QA: Revision:

Level Datum:

NOTES:

Grid:

Northpoint:

Inspection Covers are lifted where possible and all drainage invert

information has been obtained through visual inspection only, with

no entry into manholes. Therefore the complete accuracy cannot be

guaranteed. Where drainage is of critical importance we suggest

the services of a specialist drainage expert be used.

Drainage:

Trees:

Every effort has been made to identify and detail all trees on site

but where trees are of critical importance we suggest the use of a

specialist such as an arborist. Tree spread and heights are indicative.

GPS detail is relative to the time and date of survey. GPS levels and

grid are obtained using industry standard guidelines and can vary

according to the quality of the GPS network at the time of survey.

Unless stated otherwise, surveys are Scale factor 1 and Horizontal

and Vertical Datums are established from a central site fix and

baseline orientation station utilising GNSS correction data.

GPS:

Copyright:

This survey information is Copyright Encompass Surveys Ltd (2009).

All rights reserved.

Survey specification is linked to the original purpose of the survey

commissioned at source and is to be used for this purpose only.

Survey is accurate within limitations of site conditions at the time of

survey. In areas difficult to survey due to restricted access, lines of

sight or dense vegetation, critical dimensions and positions should

be verified following suitable clearance.

Survey detail obtained and shown is relative to the plotting scale.

Survey notes:

Punch Partnerships (PML) Ltd

Three Horseshoes

Chinnor Road, Towersey

Thame

Elevations 1:100@A1

ENC/140720/9KK7-ELE
July 2020

C.M / G.J.L -

Levels are related to OSGB15 derived from the GPS network

Grid is related to OSGB15 derived from the GPS network

The Northpoint position shown on this drawing has been located as 

accurately as possible, but is only indicative of true North

TREE SPECIES INFORMATION

Tree Species / Tree Boll Size / No of Bolls

Tree Height  / Tree Canopy Spread

LEGEND

SCH

SYC

PNS

RDN

RWN

SIB

SOR

POP

SYCAMORE

PRUNUS

RHODODENDRONS

ROWAN

SILVER BIRCH

SORBUS

POPLAR

SWEET CHESTNUT

WNT

WLW

YEW

SPU

WALNUT

WILLOW

YEW

SPECIES UNKNOWN

LAR

LIM

LPN

HLY

HCH

LRM

HRM

LOC

LARCH

LIME

LONDON PLANE

HOLLY

LABURNUM

HORNBEAM

LOCUST

HORSE CHESTNUT

MPL

OAK

MAG

MAPLE 

OAK

MAGNOLIA

PINE PNE

HAZEL HAZ

ASH

ASP

BCH

CED

CHY

CYP

ASH

ASPEN

BEECH

CEDAR

CHERRY

CYPRESS

ELM

FIR

FRT

HAW

ELM

FIR

FRUIT

HAWTHORN

ALDER ALD

BWF

CIF

CBF

CLF

IRF

LLF

MSF

PSF

PCF

CBR

CPF

PWF

SWF

TLF

PRF

BARBED WIRE FENCE

CORRUGATED IRON FENCE

CLOSE BOARD FENCE

CHAIN LINK FENCE

IRON RAILINGS

LARCH LAP FENCE

MISCELLANEOUS FENCE 

PALISADE FENCE

POST AND CHAIN FENCE

CRASH BARRIER

CHESTNUT PALING

POST AND WIRE FENCE

STOCK WIRE FENCE

TRELLIS FENCING

POST AND RAIL FENCE

FENCE INFORMATION

HANDRAIL HDL

PICKET FENCE PKF

BTL

CL

BL

FL

IL

FW

SW

DPC

THL

LEVEL INFORMATION

COVER LEVEL

BED LEVEL

FLOOR LEVEL

INVERT LEVEL

FOUL WATER

BASEMENT LEVEL

SURFACE WATER

DAMP PROOF COURSE

THRESHOLD LEVEL

WL

UTL

WATER LEVEL

UNABLE TO LIFT

OUTFALL LEVEL OL

SURFACE INFORMATION

PS

Tac

RWall

PAVING SLABS

Conc

TACTILE PAVING

FB

BP

RETAINING WALL

CONCRETE

FLOWERBED

BRICK PAVERS

TRAFFIC SIGNALS IC TSIC

RFBRAISED FLOWERBED

WATER TAP
Tap

LETTER BOX LB

SERVICE MARKER POST

TELEPHONE CALL BOX

TELEGRAPH POLE

RAIN WATER PIPE

SOIL VENT PIPE

STOP VALVE

WATER METER

STOP COCK

RODDING EYE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL

ROAD SIGN

KERB OUTLET

NAME PLATE

LITTER BIN

POST

NOTICE BOARD

SMP

SVP

SV

WM

TCB

TP

SC

RE

TS

RS

KO

NP

BIN

RWP

P

NB

FEATURE INFORMATION

CABLE TELEVISION IC

INSPECTION COVER 

ELECTRICITY CONTROL BOX

ELECTRICITY CABLE PIT

BRITISH TELECOM IC

BRITISH TELECOM BOX

EARTHING ROD

FIRE HYDRANT

LAMP POST

BOLLARD

BUS STOP

ER

FH

LP

IC

ECB

ELCP

CATV

BO

BS

BTIC

BTB

CABLE TELEVISION BOX CATB

ELECTRICITY POLE EP

TREE ANNOTATIONS:

COPPICED COP

P
age 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



THE THREE HORSESHOES, TOWERSEY 

Planning Application P20/S3379/FUL 

 

Photos of Flooded Chinnor Road, Beer Garden and Barn 

Appendix C

Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



 

Page 84



CORPORATE SERVICES 
INTERIM HEAD OF CORPORATE SERVICES – JAMES 
CARPENTER 
 
 
 
 

 

 CONTACT OFFICER:  
communityenablement@southandvale.gov.uk 

Community Enablement Team, 135 Eastern 
Avenue, Milton Park, Milton, Abingdon OX14 4SB 

 
 

04 January 2021 
 
Dear      
 
V ACV/15 -  Assets of Community Value (ACV) nomination – Three Horseshoes, 
Towersey 
 
Thank you for the submission of an application to list the above as an Asset of 
Community Value (“ACV”). 
 
I have considered this application on its own merits and the evidence submitted, not 
based on any previous decisions or informal advice expressed by the Council.  To this 
end, having reviewed both the submitted documents and submissions made to the 
application process my decision on behalf of the Council is to not list, the reasons for 
which I will set out below. 
   
Validity of application 
I conclude that the application was validly made under the prescribed requirements of 
section 89(1) of the 2011 Act.  The application provided sufficient basis upon which to 
base an assessment. 
 
I do however note that the application to list seeks to encompass a barn that is 
currently subject of a planning application for conversion to residential use.  Whilst it is 
entirely normative for a pub to incorporate some elements of function space, the 
owners legal submissions contest the inclusion of this element in the application for an 
ACV.  I concur that the necessary detailed evidence to support this elements inclusion 
is lacking, and potentially without reasonable basis.  
 
The owners representation expresses concern that the application for the ACV on this 
element is purely an attempt to stymie the potential redevelopment of the barn.  This is 
not a matter upon which this process needs to comment as issues relating to the 
planning status of the proposed asset do not form part of the consideration of this 
application for an ACV under the 2011 Act; those matters being controlled under the 
respective Town and Country Planning acts.   
 
Clearly a designation, based on sufficient evidence to support it would be a material 
planning consideration, an assessment of which would need to be undertaken by the 
planning authority.  Similarly, a decision not to list would also be material to the 
planning process that runs separate to this application for an ACV.  
  
 

Appendix D

Page 85



Assessment under section 88(1) of the 2011 Act.  
  

a) an actual current use of the building or other land that is not an ancillary 
use furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local 
community, and 

 
A pub being used and operating as a pub is not a reason in its own right for listing 
in an ACV.  Whilst many pubs will operate at the heart of their communities, for 
example providing a venue for various groups to meet, and in their very operating 
nature engender social interactions, such use is not non-ancillary to their principal 
use as a public house.  The reasonable test is whether there are uses taking place 
that are non-ancillary to the use and function of the public house, and on the basis 
of the information provided in the nomination, the extent to which this is the case.   
 
A successful nomination should be able to demonstrate that there is a case above 
and beyond, what on a reasoned reading of the evidence submitted, translates as 
a village pub going about its normal commercial business within a village 
community. 
 
The owners solicitors have provided a very clear appraisal of the case presented 
by the nominator, and I find much in it to agree with.  I am not swayed to the 
contrary by the limited evidence provided by the nominator.  The uses identified are 
not in their own right non-ancillary uses of the asset, sufficient in either quantum or 
scale to justify a listing as an Asset of Community Value. 
 
In my assessment therefore, the application to application fails on this ground and 
is therefore moved to be considered under section 88(2). 

 
b) it is realistic to think that there can continue to be non-ancillary use of the 

building or other land which will further (whether or not in the same way) 
the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community. 
 

This assessment cannot be met having fallen at point (a) above and is therefore 
moved to be considered under section 88(2). 

 
Assessment under section 88(2) of the 2011 Act.  
 

a) there is a time in the recent past when an actual use of the building or 
other land that was not an ancillary use furthered the social wellbeing or 
interests of the local community, and 

 
I have not identified evidence in the submission to suggest that the use in the 
recent past was of greater quantum or scale to that identified in the 88(1)a 
assessment sufficient to enable the submission to pass this further test. 

 
b) it is realistic to think that there is a time in the next five years when there 

could be non-ancillary use of the building or other land that would further 
(whether or not in the same way as before) the social wellbeing or social 
interests of the local community. 

 
This assessment cannot be met having fallen at point 2(a) above and the 
application to list fails. 
 

Page 86



As a point of note, and in the interests of providing helpful clarity I note that the 
owners representative states in their submission that “Simply stating that the future 
management of the Property will be “successfully planned” does not deal with any 
“realistic plan for future management” of the Property, and the Nominator has 
provided no further detail or evidence to explain their future plans for the Property. 
Absent any evidence in support of this allegation, this is no more than a bare 
assertion and the Council should give no weight to it. 
 
Had the submission met the test at part (a) above, I note that similarly to the case 
advanced by the owners representative, I would have struggled to have found 
reasonable justification, based on the evidence submitted that this part (b) test was 
met, and the application would have therefore failed at this point also.  

 
 
Thank you for taking the time to nominate the Three Horseshoes, Towersey as an 
Asset of Community Value.  It is evident from the submission that it is a facility within 
the village that is valued by many, however when assessed against the statutory legal 
tests, upon which I am legally required to base my decision, the application is 
unsuccessful.  I appreciate that this is a decision you will inevitably find to be 
disappointing. 
 
The purpose of the ACV process not to “save” a pub from the threat of closure nor to 
otherwise protect it from the perceived threat of re-development.  Its purpose is to 
create an opportunity for community groups with clear plans for the future use to have 
an opportunity to purchase the property, should the owner seek to dispose of it. 
 
Noting the number of previous applications that have been made to list, I can advise 
that in the absence of any new and substantial evidence of non-ancillary uses, I am of 
the view that further repeat applications are very unlikely to merit a different outcome. 
 
In line with the above regulations the decision to not list The Three Horseshoes as an 
Asset of Community Value will be recorded on the Councils published list. 
 
For further information please refer to the Assets of Community Value web page at 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

James Carpenter 
Head of Corporate Services 
South Oxfordshire District Council 
 

Page 87

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Barn and attached outbuilding. Probably early-C18 in date with the outbuilding added slightly later. The 
southern wall of the barn was rebuilt in 1981.  

MATERIALS: whitewashed and rendered witchert walling over a stone-rubble plinth with pitched slate-
covered roofs. The rebuilt southern wall of the barn is probably of rendered brick or concrete block. 

PLAN: rectangular barn of three bays, located to the south-west of the pub, orientated north-south with a 
lower rectangular, two bay, outbuilding, possibly originally a cattle shed or cart shed, orientated east-west 
and attached to the southern part of the barn¿s east elevation. The barn has opposed doors in the long 
sides and the outbuilding has two double-doors in the north elevation.  

EXTERIOR: the west elevation has an off-centre cart entrance with modern ship-lap panel infill and door. 
The entrance has a timber lintel and ears. There are two irregular rows of three narrow slit windows. The 
eaves overhang slightly with exposed machine-cut rafter ends. The eastern elevation has a larger, full-
height, cart entrance, also with modern ship-lap panel infill and door, and two slit windows. The northern 
gable end has three slit windows, arranged one-over-two, and narrow bargeboards with the ends of the 
purlins exposed. The southern gable end is blind.  

The north elevation of the outbuilding is timber-framed with waney-edge weatherboarding and end piers of 
brick. There are two entrances with C20 double-doors, those to the west having glazed transoms. The 
south and east elevations are blind, of rendered witchert on deep stone-rubble plinths.  

INTERIOR: the interior of the barn has a C20 plasterboard ceiling so that the only parts of the roof structure 
visible are the two tie beams. These are hand-cut with crude chamfers. The survival of the other principal 
members of the roof structure are therefore unknown, although the external evidence of machine-cut 
rafters and purlins suggest that there has been at least partial re-roofing. There are exposed timber lintels 
to both the full-height eastern barn doorway and lower western doorway. Both doorways have reinforcing 
piers projecting into the interior. These are plastered but are possibly of brick construction. The walls are 
plastered and whitewashed above the exposed stone plinth. The slit-windows have chamfered reveals with 
C20 interior glazing of six-light leaded windows in timber casements with segmental arched frames. As well 
as the external windows there are two windows through to the western end of the outbuilding. Other fittings, 
including a C21 bar counter at the northern end, are modern. 

The outbuilding has a king-post roof with raking struts and ridge. Apart from the chamfered tie beam, wall 
posts, elements of the wall-plates and one or two rafters, the rest of the roof is of later machine-cut timber, 
probably C20 in date, as are the studs to the north wall. The remaining walls are of exposed witchert. The 
building is divided in half by a screen of uneven elm or oak planks attached to the tie beam.  

Pursuant to s1 (5A) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (¿the Act¿) it is 
declared that the bar counter and associated cupboards, appliances and preparation surfaces at the north 
end of the barn are not of special architectural or historic interest, however any works which have the 
potential to affect the character of the listed building as a building of special architectural or historic interest 
may still require LBC and this is a matter for the LPA to determine. 

Appendix E

Page 88



  

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 

 

 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Hearing held on 18 September 2012 

Site visit made on 18 September 2012 

by Ian Radcliffe  BSC (Hons) MCIEH DMS 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 1 November 2012 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 

292 Mill Road, Cambridge CB1 3NL 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Bennell Developments Limited against the decision of Cambridge 
City Council. 

• The application Ref 11/0872/FUL, dated 18 July 2011, was refused by notice dated 
20 December 2011. 

• The development proposed is residential development - the erection of 5 houses and 

conversion / extension to provide student accommodation (16 units). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues in this appeal are; 

• whether the proposal would result in the loss of a local facility important in 

sustaining the social life of the community; and if it would, whether such a 

facility would be viable to operate;  

• the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area; and, 

• the effect of the proposal on local services and facilities. 

Reasons 

Principle of development and use of the building 

3. The appeal site is occupied by a purpose built Victorian public house called ‘The 

Royal Standard’ closed in 2007.  Utilising permitted development rights it 

reopened the same year as a restaurant (use class A3) before last year 

changing use once more to operate as a charity shop (use class A1).  

4. A presumption in favour of sustainable development is at the heart of the 

government’s National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).  The 

proposed development is located within a residential area close to the centre of 

Cambridge and would result in the redevelopment of the site for housing.  As a 

result it is not a matter in dispute that it is a sustainable location for 

development.  Policies 3/1 and 5/2 of the Cambridge Local Plan support the 

conversion of non residential buildings into self contained dwellings in order to 

make efficient use of land and assist in meeting the housing targets for 

the city.   

Appendix F

Page 89



Appeal Decision APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 

 

 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           2 

5. However, paragraph 70 of the Framework also advises that planning decisions 

should enhance the sustainability of communities by planning positively for 

community facilities, such as public houses, and guard against their 

unnecessary loss.  Policy 5/11 of the Cambridge Local Plan, which seeks to 

prevent the loss of community facilities, fails to identify public houses as such a 

facility.  The Local Plan is therefore in conflict with the Framework.  However, 

as the Framework is an important material consideration and a more recent 

publication than the Local Plan I attach significant weight to it and I shall treat 

public houses as a community facility.  The question therefore is whether the 

premises which has not operated as a public house for 5 years is such a facility. 

It is to that matter which I now turn. 

6. In response to the loss of public houses and the silence of the Local Plan on 

this matter the Council has prepared an Interim Planning Policy Guidance on 

the Protection of Public Houses in the City of Cambridge (IPPG).  Public 

consultation has closed on this document and subject to minor amendments it 

is due to be adopted by the Council in October this year.  Whilst not part of the 

development plan it is a practical document which provides a useful approach 

to assessing applications for a change of use of public houses and I attach 

moderate weight to it.   

7. The IPPG recognises that the use of public houses can be changed to other 

Class A uses without the need to apply for planning permission.  As a 

consequence, it applies the same development management principles to 

assess applications for a change of use of such premises to housing as it 

applies to public houses which are currently is use as drinking establishments.  

I concur with the findings of another Inspector in appeal reference 

APP/W0530/A/11/2167619.  He found in the absence of such guidance in 

another local planning authority area that to adopt the approach that a public 

house use of a site has been lost if it was no longer in use as a drinking 

establishment would be to take a view that is too narrow and simplistic.  For 

these reasons, I therefore find that the appeal premises is a community facility. 

8. The liquor licence for the premises lapsed this year.  Whilst planning permission 

may be readily gained for use as a drinking establishment (class A4 use) the 

Council’s licensing policy has a presumption against issuing new licences on Mill 

Road.  The appellant argues that as a result it is unlikely that the building could 

re-open as a public house.  However, each application would be assessed by 

the Council on its merits.  Given the long history of use of the building as a 

public house, and that well run public houses do not add to anti-social 

behaviour or crime, the risk that the premises may not gain a liquor licence is 

not a matter of such significance as to mean that the building could not reopen 

as a drinking establishment.  

Value of the facility to the local community 

9. The premises are located in an urban part of the city that is characterised by 

terraced housing.  Redevelopment of nearby sites such as the former school to 

the west with terraced housing and flats has increased the amount of housing 

in the area in recent years.  As a result of the high density of development 

there are a comparatively high number of people living in the area.   

10. For a facility to be of value to a local community it needs to be within 

reasonable walking distance.  The Cambridge Pub Study commissioned by the 

Council has used a distance of 400m to assess accessibility.  The appellant 

Page 90



Appeal Decision APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 

 

 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           3 

believes that a distance of up to 800m would be more suitable measure. In 

order to cater for the mobility of all sections of the community I believe that a 

distance closer to 400m is more appropriate.  On this basis there are 2 

alternative public houses towards the edge of Romsey within a reasonable 

walking distance of the appeal site.  The first, ‘The Brook’, is a sports 

orientated public house.  The second, ‘The Empress’, is aimed at young people.  

As a consequence, both are niche drinking establishments that do not aim to 

serve the wider local community.  The Royal Standard in contrast has gardens 

and is centrally located in Romsey.  As a result, it is within easy walking 

distance for all residents of this local community and has the potential to cater 

for a broader market than the other 2 public houses. 

11. A petition with 455 signatures was submitted to the hearing seeking the 

retention of the building and its gardens for use as a public house or another 

community use.  This supports the contention that the Royal Standard is a 

facility that is valued by the local community.  Whilst the loss of the Royal 

Standard would not reduce the local community’s ability to meet its day to day 

needs I therefore find that it would result in the loss of a facility that is of value 

to it.  

Viability 

12. The Royal Standard was a local facility of service to the community for over 

125 years until it ceased trading as a public house 5 years ago.  When the 

public house was trading it was tenanted.  The appellant stated that the 

landlord of the public house was unable to operate the business at a profit.  

This supports the view that whilst it has been a valued local facility it struggled 

in the years prior to its closure as a public house. 

13. Several local residents stated that the public house was poorly managed in its 

latter years.  Furthermore, landlords of tenanted public houses, unlike freehold 

landlords, are restricted in terms of the beers that can be sold and have less 

incentive to invest in a building they do not own.  These considerations may 

well have affected the attractiveness and thus popularity of this 

community facility.   

14. In my assessment, based upon the policies of the Framework, in order to 

discover whether a change of use of the building is justified it should therefore 

first be marketed as a public house in accordance with sensible criteria such as 

those contained within the IPPG.  This approach would also be consistent with 

how applications for changes of use in relation to other local community 

facilities are dealt with under policy 5/11 of the Local Plan.  The proposal would 

therefore be contrary to the objectives of the Framework and the general 

thrust of policy 5/11 of the Local Plan. 

Character and appearance 

15. The appeal site lies within the Mill Road Area of the Central Conservation area.  

The Conservation Area Appraisal identifies that Romsey town along the side 

streets off Mill Road is characterised by narrow 2 storey terraced housing set 

on the back edge of the pavement.  This has resulted in a fine grain of urban 

development.  Buildings of Local Interest, which policy 4/12 of the Local Plan 

seeks to protect, include the Royal Standard.  These buildings are 

predominantly located along Mill Road the main thoroughfare through the area.  

16. The proposed side and rear extensions to the Royal Standard would be 

subservient in height to the building and would not unduly obscure its 

Page 91



Appeal Decision APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 

 

 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           4 

chimneys from public view.  In terms of design the inclusion of a gable in the 

front of the side extension would complement the main elevation of the 

building.  In addition, the pitch of the mansard roofs would match that of the 

existing building.  I recognise that the vast majority of the side garden would 

be occupied by the side extension, but it is a feature of this urban part of the 

Conservation Area that the full width of sites, including corner plots, are usually 

occupied by buildings.  The proposal therefore would not adversely affect this 

Building of Local Interest.  The rear garden and car park are present in 

glimpsed views from Mill Road and do not in my view make an important 

contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

17. The proposed terrace would be set close to the back edge of the pavement on 

Malta Road and in terms of height, width and architectural features would 

complement the existing terrace.  Conditions requiring the provision of a 

replacement tree to the side of the Royal Standard, the value of which is 

identified by the Character Appraisal, and the use of appropriate materials 

would assist in ensuring that the appearance of the development complements 

the locality.   

18. Taking all these matters into account, I therefore conclude that the proposed 

development would preserve the contribution of the appeal site to the 

character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  In doing so the proposal 

would comply with policy ENV/7 of the East of England Plan and policies 3/10, 

3/12, 4/11 and 4/12 of the Cambridge Local Plan.  These policies require the 

protection of the character and appearance of a locality, including conservation 

areas, through high quality design that respects local design features. 

Other matters 

Local services and facilities 

19. Policy 5/14 of the Local Plan provides the policy basis for contributions towards 

the provision of open space, community development, waste, waste 

management and education.  The contents of the obligation are uncontested 

and a properly completed section 106 agreement was submitted to the Council 

to secure such provision prior to the hearing.  However, as the proposed 

development is unacceptable for other reasons it is not necessary to assess the 

contributions sought in relation to the tests in paragraph 204 of the 

Framework, or the requirements of Regulation 122 of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.  

Split decision 

20. Should it be deemed appropriate a split decision was suggested by the 

appellant allowing the appeal in relation to the proposed terrace, but dismissing 

it in relation to the conversion of the Royal Standard.  Whilst these 2 aspects of 

the scheme are physically and functionally separate such a decision would 

result in the communal outdoor area of the Royal Standard wrapping around 

the side and rear of the back garden of the nearest of the proposed terraced 

houses.  As this would be the sole private amenity space to this house if the 

Royal Standard once more was used as a community facility this has the 

potential to result in unacceptable noise and disturbance for future occupiers.  

Furthermore, a public house with a car park and outdoor amenity space is a far 

more attractive proposition than a public house without these facilities.  In the 

interests of maximising the opportunity for the facility to return to community 

Page 92



Appeal Decision APP/Q0505/A/12/2174210 

 

 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           5 

use and safeguarding the living conditions of the occupiers of the end terrace a 

split decision therefore would not be appropriate in this instance. 

Conclusion 

21. While the site is in a sustainable location and the proposal would make an 

efficient, well designed use of the site to provide additional housing (including 

for students), I consider that any presumption in favour of development is 

clearly outweighed by the comprehensive harm the proposal would cause by 

virtue of the loss of a valued community facility.  For these reasons, and having 

regard to all other matters raised, I conclude that the appeal should 

be dismissed. 

 

Ian Radcliffe 

Inspector 

 

Page 93



 

www.southoxon.gov.uk  

Planning 

Head of Service: Adrian Duffield  

CPC Planning Consultants 
Unit 3 
Broadbridge Business Centre 
Delling Lane 
Bosham 
PO18 8NF 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Caitlin Phillpotts 

registration@southandvale.gov.uk 

Tel : 01235 422600 
Textphone: 18001 01235 422600 

 
135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park 

ABINGDON OX14 4SB 

13 May 2021 Ref: P21/S1553/PEM 

                                            
 
Dear Mr Russell, 
 
Location: Three Horseshoes, Chinnor Road, Towersey, OX9 3QY 
Proposal: Conversion of outbuilding to a dwelling utilising existing access, 
with associated landscaping and parking. **VIRTUAL MEETING & LETTER** 
 
This application follows on from live application P20/S3379/FUL for the proposed, 
sub-division of the existing commercial unit (public house), creation of a residential 
curtilage in the south west corner of the plot and conversion of the existing detached 
ancillary barn to a dwelling, at Three Horseshoes, Chinnor Road, Towersey, OX9 
3QY and seeks advice on the acceptability for the conversion of the building in repect 
of listed building consent following its listing on 10 March 2021. 
 
Following a site visit undertaken by myself and the council’s conservation officer and 
our meeting please find our comments below. 
 
Context  
The site contains the Three Horseshoes public house with ancillary barn, beer 
garden and car park, located within the built up limits of Towersey, inside the 
Towersey conservation area. The site has existing means of vehicular access onto 
the unmade access land (connecting onto the Chinnor Road and access lane) to the 
north of the site. Public right of way, Towersey Footpath 9 / runs east to west along 
the adjoining access lane. The barn has recently received Grade II listing status for 
its historic and architectural interest. The listing description is pasted below. 
 
Barn and attached outbuilding. Probably early-C18 in date with the outbuilding added 
slightly later. The southern wall of the barn was rebuilt in 1981. MATERIALS: 
whitewashed and rendered witchert walling over a stone-rubble plinth with pitched 
slate-covered roofs. The rebuilt southern wall of the barn is probably of rendered 
brick or concrete block. PLAN: rectangular barn of three bays, located to the south-
west of the pub, orientated north-south with a lower rectangular, two bay, outbuilding, 
possibly originally a cattle shed or cart shed, orientated east-west and attached to the 

Appendix G

Page 94



 

southern part of the barn¿s east elevation. The barn has opposed doors in the long 
sides and the outbuilding has two double-doors in the north elevation. 
 
EXTERIOR: the west elevation has an off-centre cart entrance with modern ship-lap 
panel infill and door. The entrance has a timber lintel and ears. There are two 
irregular rows of three narrow slit windows. The eaves overhang slightly with 
exposed machine-cut rafter ends. The eastern elevation has a larger, full-height, cart 
entrance, also with modern ship-lap panel infill and door, and two slit windows. The 
northern gable end has three slit windows, arranged one-over-two, and narrow 
bargeboards with the ends of the purlins exposed. The southern gable end is blind. 
The north elevation of the outbuilding is timber-framed with waney-edge 
weatherboarding and end piers of brick. There are two entrances with C20 double-
doors, those to the west having glazed transoms. The south and east elevations are 
blind, of rendered witchert on deep stone-rubble plinths. 
 
INTERIOR: the interior of the barn has a C20 plasterboard ceiling so that the only 
parts of the roof structure visible are the two tie beams. These are hand-cut with 
crude chamfers. The survival of the other principal members of the roof structure are 
therefore unknown, although the external evidence of machine-cut rafters and purlins 
suggest that there has been at least partial re-roofing. There are exposed timber 
lintels to both the full-height eastern barn doorway and lower western doorway. Both 
doorways have reinforcing piers projecting into the interior. These are plastered but 
are possibly of brick construction. The walls are plastered and whitewashed above 
the exposed stone plinth. The slit-windows have chamfered reveals with C20 interior 
glazing of six-light leaded windows in timber casements with segmental arched 
frames. As well as the external windows there are two windows through to the 
western end of the outbuilding. Other fittings, including a C21 bar counter at the 
northern end, are modern. 
 
The outbuilding has a king-post roof with raking struts and ridge. Apart from the 
chamfered tie beam, wall posts, elements of the wall-plates and one or two rafters, 
the rest of the roof is of later machine-cut timber, probably C20 in date, as are the 
studs to the north wall. The remaining walls are of exposed witchert. The building is 
divided in half by a screen of uneven elm or oak planks attached to the tie beam. 
Pursuant to s1 (5A) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 it is declared that the bar counter and associated cupboards, appliances and 
preparation surfaces at the north end of the barn are not of special architectural or 
historic interest, however any works which have the potential to affect the character 
of the listed building as a building of special architectural or historic interest may still 
require LBC and this is a matter for the LPA to determine. 
 
Proposal  
The plans submitted as part of P20/S3379/FUL propose a three bedroom dwelling 
arranged over two storeys. The plans submitted as part of this application show a 
revised scheme and proposes a two bedroom dwelling arranged over a single storey, 
as a way to minimise the alterations to the existing building required to facilitate the 
change of use and reduce the impact on the historic fabric of the listed building. Our 
comments below are given in respect of the revised layout now proposed. The plans 
forming part of this application and discussed at our meeting are pasted below for 
reference.  Page 95



 

 

 
 

 
 
Policy context  
The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building, its setting and / or the wider historic environment, the local planning 
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the area or 
building, its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
either possesses. Paragraphs 184 to 202 of the NPPF reflect this requirement, 
stating that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated area and / or heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation. Any forthcoming application for listed building 
consent will be assessed in accordance with South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 
(SOLP) polices STRAT1 : The Overall Strategy, ENV6 : Historic Environment, ENV7 : 

Page 96



 

Listed buildings and ENV8 : Conservation Areas and polices set out in the emerging 
Towersey Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Please note Towersey Neighbourhood Area was formally designated on 24 August 
2016. The parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging 
with the local community. This is to give the plan a direction and draft policies that will 
form the neighbourhood plan. With no formally drafted or made policies to date, the 
plan carries only limited weight in decision making. 
 
Discussions 
Separate to any panning permissions required for the change of use of the building 
and land and all associated operational development required to see this 
implemented, all works including internal and external alterations to allow for the 
conversion of the building to a dwelling will require listed building consent. Having 
visited the site, inspected the building internally and reviewed plans and supporting 
information submitted as part of this application the council’s conservation officer has 
provided the comments pasted below.  
 
The scheme that has been presented is an improvement on that submitted with 
application P20/S3379/FUL in heritage terms. A heritage appraisal has been 
undertaken in light of the building having been designated, and the amendments 
have sought to overcome areas where harm was identified. The open volume space 
of the barn has been preserved, fewer new openings made, and more historic fabric 
and features retained.  
 
Notwithstanding these improvements, there are areas of the scheme which still pose 
harm to the significance of the listed building. These are set out below: 

- The creation of a doorway opening between the barn and the outbuilding. This 
would result in the loss of one of the original ventilation slot openings framed 
in timber and would result in the loss of an area of witchert which is the 
primary historic fabric that made this building worthy of listing.  

- The conversion of the outbuilding would result in the loss of the elm timber 
partition in its current location (of unknown age and significance but mentioned 
in the list description). The reuse of the same material elsewhere would 
diminish the integrity of this feature  

- The upgrades to the walls required in the outbuilding would result in the 
exposed and unrendered witchert walls being concealed resulting in an 
alteration to character. 

- The new partitions to the outbuilding would subdivide the space in a manner 
that it not consistent with the current arrangement and would change the 
proportions and character of the space.  

- The insertion of rooflights to the barn will result in an alteration to its character 
as a barn, that is currently well preserved externally in spite of its present use 
as a function room. The conversion to residential use will be apparent 
externally.  

- The building is within the flood plain and in the absence of an upper floor to 
the building to comply with ‘flood plan’ requirements, flood resistance 
measures are likely to be required. These are likely to involve the raising of 
internal floor levels and possibly additional waterproofing works. This has 
potential to conflict with the preservation of the witchert which is raised from Page 97



 

ground level on a masonry plinth to protect it from moisture. Raising ground 
levels internally could result in an increase in wall moisture at higher level. 

- General installation of services and installation of internal stud walling would 
alter the visual character of the barn. The new internal finishes may have the 
effect of inhibiting the movement of moisture from the walling fabric. The 
preference would be that the existing walls are maintained and upgraded with 
a lime plaster only.  

- The new dwelling would be provided with a good-sized garden area however 
no provision is made on the site for domestic storage for the maintenance of 
this space. Storage for lawnmowers etc should be provided within the scheme 
to avoid the need for sheds on the land in future. Provision has not been made 
for an outdoor patio area for occupants which would be expected for a plot of 
this size. 

- The private residential use of the building would prevent the current public 
access to the barn that it benefits from by association with the public house, 
contrary to its communal value as the venue of the Towersey Folk Festival as 
mentioned in the listing. 

- The use of the barn as a function room supplements the running of the public 
house. It is unclear whether the loss of the building for use by the pub would 
affect its viability.  

 
The proposals state that any harm associated with the proposed conversion would 
be outweighed by the overall benefits that would be brought to the building. These 
include the following: 

- Removal of the suspended ceiling to the barn 
- Provision of metal guttering in place of UPVC 
- Removal of non-breathable finishes and reinstatement of breathable finishes 

to the witchert walls 
 
It is agreed that all of these works would be heritage benefits. However, it is not 
clearly demonstrated that the building as it exists is currently at risk. There is no sign 
that the building is suffering from accelerated decay, water ingress, or other structural 
issue that would call us to consider that the current use of the building is causing it to 
be at risk, or that the present use could not at a future time secure similar 
conservation works to those proposed as benefits with this application. It was evident 
from the application that there is much public support for continuing its present use 
as a function room and I would be surprised if there were not interest locally to fund 
such a project. Notwithstanding this, the owner of the site has a legal duty to keep 
the listed building in reasonable state.  
 
As such, I can see no justification at the present time for a scheme that would result 
in any harm to the listed building. There are very limited public benefits associated 
with the provision of one dwelling, and these do not in my view outweigh the loss of 
the building’s community function by its association with the pub. On this basis I do 
not consider that the scheme is supportable in heritage terms. It is considered that 
the scheme would be contrary to the duties set out in the sections of the Act listed 
below, and contrary to NPPF policies 194, 195 and 196. The council now also has 
the adopted Local Plan 2035 which provides more robust heritage policies in line with 
the NPPF. The proposal would be contrary to ENV6, ENV7 and ENV8. Please note 
Policy ENV7(4), ‘Changes of use will be supported where it can be demonstrated that Page 98



 

the new use can be accommodated without any adverse effect on the significance of 
the building and its setting’. 
 
Summary 
In our opinion, the proposed conversion of the Grade II listed barn (and it’s 
outbuilding) and change of use of the land forming the setting of the listed building 
inside of the conservation area would go no way to conserve and / or enhance 
the area or building, its setting or any features of special architectural or (functionally) 
historic interest which either possesses. In heritage terms the proposed conversion 
and change of use at the site as outlined in this application is considered to be 
contrary to the aims of Paragraphs 184 to 202 of the NPPF and SOLP polices ENV6, 
ENV7 and ENV8, which seek to protect the special qualities of heritage assets 
across the district.  
 
I hope that the above comments are helpful but please note that they are not binding 
on the council in respect of the formal determination of any planning application 
submitted.   
 
Please note – any amended plans that are received after the issuing of this letter, which require more 
than minor assessment, will be subject to additional charges. Additional charges applying to follow up 
advice can be found on our website at; http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-
and-building/application-advice/pre-application-advice/how-much-will-it. 
 
Please note that requests for pre-application advice and the council’s response to them will be made 
public once a subsequent relevant planning application is made.  We will be making all submitted 
documents, our response and any interim correspondence public.  We will endeavour to ensure that 
all personal information such as telephone numbers and email addresses are removed from 
documentation. 

 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Caitlin Phillpotts 
Planning Officer
 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

  

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S4226/HH 
 APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER 
 REGISTERED 4.10.2021 
 PARISH THAME 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Pieter-Paul Barker 

Kate Gregory 
David Bretherton 

 APPLICANT   Saeed 
 SITE 3 King's Road, Thame, OX9 3JJ 
 PROPOSAL Single storey extension to rear of property and new 

wall to part of boundary 
 OFFICER Lilua Iheozor-Ejiofor 

 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Kate Gregory. The Town Council’s views conflict with the officer’s recommendation of 
approval. 
 

1.2 The application site, shown on Appendix A contains an end of terrace two storey 
dwelling located within the built-up areas of Thame. The site does not lie within an 
area of special designation.  
 

1.3 The front elevation is predominantly finished in grey bricks, and on the side elevation, 
red bricks. Along the south east facing boundary is a vertical timber boarded fence. 
 

1.4 The plot occupies a corner position with its south east elevation fronting onto Croft 
Road. 
 

1.5 This application seeks permission to erect a single storey extension to the rear of the 
property and a new brick wall to part of the south eastern boundary. A copy of the 
relevant plans are shown on Appendix B and other documentation associated with 
the application can be viewed on the council’s website, 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&R
EF=P21/S4226/HH.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Thame Town Council – Objects 

Comments: The proposed wall on the south-eastern elevation would represent 
overdevelopment and be contrary to Thame Neighbourhood Plan Policy ESDQ16.  
 
Neighbours – The occupiers of both Numbers 2 and 4 Kings Road have commented 
with no objections. 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P15/S0991/LDP - Approved (19/05/2015) 

Certificate of lawfulness for a proposed habitable room in the roofspace. 
 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 N/A 

 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S4226/HH
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P21/S4226/HH
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P21/S4226/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S0991/LDP


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

  

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035) Policies: 

H20  -  Extensions to Dwellings 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
TH1 - The strategy for Thame 
 

5.2 Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) policies 
ESDQ16 - Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings  
ESDQ28 - Provide good quality private outdoor space 

  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 
  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity 

 Access and Parking 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

 
6.2 

Design and character 
Policy H20 of the SOLP 2035 states that extensions to dwellings or the erection and 
extension of ancillary buildings within the curtilage of a dwelling will be permitted 
provided that amenity areas are provided for the extended dwelling that accord with the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide; and the proposal does not conflict with other policies 
in the Development Plan.  
 

6.3 Policy DES1 of the SOLP 2035 states that all new development must be of a high 
quality design that reflects the positive features that make up the character of the local 
area and both physically and visually enhances and compliments the surroundings. 
Planning permission will only be granted where proposals are designed to meet the key 
design objectives and principles for delivering high quality development set out in the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide.  Section 6 of the SODG 2016 advises that the size, 
siting and scale of any extension should not compete with the main dwelling. 
 

6.4 Policy DES2 of the SOLP 2035 states that all proposals for new development should 
include a contextual analysis that demonstrates how the design has been informed by 

Page 102



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

  

and responds positively to the site and its surroundings; and reinforces place-identity by 
enhancing local character.  
 

6.5 Policy ESDQ16 of the TNP seeks to ensure that development proposals respond to the 
specific character of the site and its local surroundings, maintaining or enhancing its 
strengths and seeking to address its weaknesses. 


6.6 Rear extension 

The proposed extension will project off the rear wall of the dwelling by approximately 7 
metres, filling in the 2-metre wide gap between the rear and the side walls. It will have a 
mono-pitched roof and will measure approximately 3 metres at its highest point. The 
roof slope will be arranged with 5 modest Velux rooflights. The materials used on the 
external walls of the proposed extension will be appropriate in the context of the 
existing dwelling. The proposed extension remains subservient to the main dwelling 
and the design of the proposed extension is in keeping with the character of the site 
and the surrounding area.  


6.7 Boundary wall 

Thame Town Council has objected to the proposed development on the grounds that 
the proposed boundary wall will result in overdevelopment. 


6.8 The proposed brick wall will replace part of the south eastern boundary fence which 

currently has timber boarded fencing measuring approximately 2 metres high and 30 
metres long. The proposed wall will adjoin the rear wall of the dwelling and will measure 
approximately 9 metres long, 2.75 metres high over a length of 7.75 metres and then 
dropping to a height of 2 metres for the remaining length.  


6.9 Following planning permission granted under application P18/S2067/HH the south east 

facing neighbour, Number 2 King’s Road has recently constructed a rear extension and 
brick wall along the boundary with Croft Road with a height of approximately 2.8 
metres.  The current proposal would be in keeping with this recent development and 
with the surrounding boundary treatments in the wider street scene.    


6.10 Considering that the length of the wall proposed is approximately one third of the 

existing boundary fence, officers do not consider that the proposed wall amounts to 
overdevelopment. The use of bricks to match the existing dwelling will further integrate 
the development into the existing dwelling and the site and in officers view, will improve 
the visual appearance of the dwelling and the wider area. 


6.11 Overall, officers do not consider that the proposed development will detract from the 

street scene. As such, the proposed development is considered acceptable in design 
terms and would not be out of keeping with the character and appearance of the main 
dwelling, or that of the wider area. Officers consider that the development would accord 
with the policies highlighted above. 


6.12 Residential amenity 

The position, scale and nature of the proposal ensures the amenities of the 
neighbouring occupiers will be unharmed by the proposed development. 
 

6.13 Access and Parking 
Access and parking arrangements would not be affected the proposed development. 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 103



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

  

 
 
6.14 

Other material planning considerations 
 
Permitted development fallback position 
Permitted development rights have not been removed from the site which could permit 
the enlargement, improvement or alteration of the property. The applicant can, should 
they wish, erect a rear extension of up to 3 metres high and deep along the concerned 
boundary without the need for planning permission. Granted that this will be 
considerably shorter in length than the length proposed for the wall, however, it could 
be higher than the 2.75 metres proposed.  
 

6.15 Sustainable design 
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development has to demonstrate how they are 
seeking to reduce greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape, and planting. The proposed extension is of a modest scale and to a fixed 
part of the dwelling with limited scope for reducing greenhouse emissions.  


6.16 Community Infrastructure Levy 

The proposed development is not liable to pay CIL as the net increase in residential 
floor space does not exceed 100m2 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 Planning permission should be granted as the proposal complies with the relevant 

Development Plan policies, Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government 
Guidance. Subject to the attached conditions, the proposed development would not be 
harmful to the character and appearance of the site, the surrounding area or the 
amenity of neighbours. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:  
  

1 : Commencement of development within three years 
2 : Development in accordance with the approved plans  
3 : Materials as on plan 

 
 
Author:   Lilua Iheozor-Ejiofor 
Email:     Planning@southoxon.gov.uk 
Tel:          01235 422600 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 105

Agenda Item 11P21/S4226/HH



AAA

number

This drawing and the works depicted are
the copyright of Leap Architects Ltd and
may not be reproduced or amended
except by written authorisation. No
liability will be accepted for amendments
made by others.
Do not scale from this drawing.
Unless noted otherwise all dimensions
are in millimetres.

1

2
3

A3@

date

scale

title

project

info@leaparchitects.co.uk
leaparchitects.co.uk

01865 570250

Unit 11 Wheatley Business Centre
Wheatley, Oxfordshire. OX33 1XW

Thame, OX93JJ

03KRT-005

May 2021

1: 200

Existing site plan

3 Kings Road 

2

scale in metres

4 6 8 100
Scale: 1:200

existing site plan1

client design meeting 118/05/2101

N

minor updates07/07/2102

design finalised23/09/2103

Appendix B

P
age 106

AutoCAD SHX Text
KING'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
ROAD



AAA

number

This drawing and the works depicted are
the copyright of Leap Architects Ltd and
may not be reproduced or amended
except by written authorisation. No
liability will be accepted for amendments
made by others.
Do not scale from this drawing.
Unless noted otherwise all dimensions
are in millimetres.

1

2
3

A3@

date

scale

title

project

info@leaparchitects.co.uk
leaparchitects.co.uk

01865 570250

Unit 11 Wheatley Business Centre
Wheatley, Oxfordshire. OX33 1XW

Thame, OX93JJ

Proposed site plan

03KRT-005

May 2021

1: 200

3 Kings Road 

Scale: 1:200
proposed site plan1

client design meeting 118/05/2101

2

scale in metres

4 6 8 100

N

updated to suit revised floor plan07/07/2102

existing access gate relocated

design finalised23/09/2103

P
age 107

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
KING'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
37



living room

bedroom 1 bathroom

dining room

bedroom 3

number

This drawing and the works depicted are
the copyright of Leap Architects Ltd and
may not be reproduced or amended
except by written authorisation. No
liability will be accepted for amendments
made by others.
Do not scale from this drawing.
Unless noted otherwise all dimensions
are in millimetres.

1

2
3

A3@

date

scale

title

project

info@leaparchitects.co.uk
leaparchitects.co.uk

01865 570250

Unit 11 Wheatley Business Centre
Wheatley, Oxfordshire. OX33 1XW

Thame, OX93JJ

03KRT-020

May 2021

1: 100

Existing elevations

3 Kings Road

Scale: 1:100
existing north elevation1 Scale: 1:100

existing east elevation2

client design meeting 118/05/2101

1

scale in metres

2 3 4 50

Scale: 1:100
existing south elevation3 Scale: 1:100

existing section A2

minor updates07/07/2102
design finalised23/09/2103

P
age 108



living room

bedroom 1 bathroom

dining room

bedroom 3

number

This drawing and the works depicted are
the copyright of Leap Architects Ltd and
may not be reproduced or amended
except by written authorisation. No
liability will be accepted for amendments
made by others.
Do not scale from this drawing.
Unless noted otherwise all dimensions
are in millimetres.

1

2
3

A3@

date

scale

title

project

info@leaparchitects.co.uk
leaparchitects.co.uk

01865 570250

Unit 11 Wheatley Business Centre
Wheatley, Oxfordshire. OX33 1XW

Thame, OX93JJ

05KRT-120

May 2021

1: 100

Existing elevations

3 Kings Road

Scale: 1:100
proposed north elevation1 Scale: 1:100

proposed east elevation2

client design meeting 118/05/2101

1

scale in metres

2 3 4 50

Scale: 1:100
proposed south elevation3 Scale: 1:100

proposed section A4

updated to suit revised floor plan07/07/2102

bay window omitted14/09/2103
rear window change22/09/2104
design finalised23/09/2105

brick to match existing

PVC window to match
existing

zinc standing seam
roof

new sky lights

zinc standing seam
roof

brick to match existing

P
age 109



check dimcheck dim

A
AA

kitchen

dining room

living room

hall

WC

A
AA

bedroom 2

bedroom 1

bathroom

study

landing

A
AA

A
AA

number

This drawing and the works depicted are
the copyright of Leap Architects Ltd and
may not be reproduced or amended
except by written authorisation. No
liability will be accepted for amendments
made by others.
Do not scale from this drawing.
Unless noted otherwise all dimensions
are in millimetres.

1

2
3

A3@

date

scale

title

project

info@leaparchitects.co.uk
leaparchitects.co.uk

01865 570250

Unit 11 Wheatley Business Centre
Wheatley, Oxfordshire. OX33 1XW

Thame, OX93JJ

03KRT-010

May  2021

1: 100

Existing floor plans

3 Kings Road 

Scale: 1:100
existing ground floor plan1 Scale: 1:100

existing first floor plan2 Scale: 1:100
existing second floor plan3

client design meeting 118/05/2101

Scale: 1:100
existing roof plan4

1

scale in metres

2 3 4 50
N

minor updates07/07/2102

design finalised23/09/2103

P
age 110



check dim
check dim

A
AA

snug

kitchen

living room

hall

WC

A
AA

bedroom 2

bedroom 1

bathroom

study

landing

A
AA

A
AA

number

This drawing and the works depicted are
the copyright of Leap Architects Ltd and
may not be reproduced or amended
except by written authorisation. No
liability will be accepted for amendments
made by others.
Do not scale from this drawing.
Unless noted otherwise all dimensions
are in millimetres.

1

2
3

A3@

date

scale

title

project

info@leaparchitects.co.uk
leaparchitects.co.uk

01865 570250

Unit 11 Wheatley Business Centre
Wheatley, Oxfordshire. OX33 1XW

Thame, OX93JJ

proposed floor plans

05KRT-110

May 2021

1: 100

3 Kings Road 

Scale: 1:100
proposed ground floor plan1 Scale: 1:100

proposed first floor plan2 Scale: 1:100
proposed second floor plan3

client design meeting 118/05/2101

Scale: 1:100
proposed roof plan4

1

scale in metres

2 3 4 50
N

revised floor plan07/07/2102
bay window omitted14/09/2103
rear window change22/09/2104
design finalised23/09/2105

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S4280/HH 
 APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER 
 REGISTERED 6.10.2021 
 PARISH EWELME 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper 

Andrea Powell 
 APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Mark Powell 
 SITE Yew Tree House, The Street, Ewelme, OX10 6HQ 
 PROPOSAL Extension & remodelling works. 
 OFFICER Paul Bowers 

 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This report sets out the officer’s recommendation that planning permission should be 

granted having regard to the material planning considerations and the development 
plan. 
 

1.2 The application is referred to planning committee as the applicant is an elected 
member of South Oxfordshire District Council.  
 

1.3 The application site comprises a single, detached, two storey dwelling located on the 
southern side of The Street, in the centre of Ewelme. The dwelling is side on to the 
road with a detached garage along the north western boundary and sited adjacent to 
the Ewelme Brook to the south. 
 
A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1.  
 

1.4 The site is located in the Ewelme Conservation area and the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The building stands out in the street scene 
because its design, appearance and materials are typical of a 1970s residential estate 
rather than the more historic structures in the wider conservation area.  
 

1.5 The application seeks planning permission to erect a single storey extension on the 
north western elevation of the dwelling, reclad the dwelling in vertical natural timber, to 
erect a balcony on the south west elevation and the erection of a new replacement, 
detached garage.  
 

1.6 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s 
website at www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Ewelme Parish Council – No comments received.  

 
Countryside Officer – No objection subject to conditions relating to lighting and the 
provision of a water course protection strategy 
 
Drainage  – No objection.  
 
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objection subject to a 
condition which removes the permitted development right to convert the garage.  
 

Page 113

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S4280/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

Forestry Officer – No objection subject to the tree protection condition.  
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P21/S2522/PEO - Advice provided (07/07/2021) 

Extension and remodelling works and replacement detached garage block. 
 
P72/M1180 - Approved (06/04/1973) 
Erection of a house and garage. Access. 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 N/A 

 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV4  -  Watercourses 
ENV6  -  Historic Environment 
ENV8  -  Conservation Areas 
ENV12 – Pollution – potential sources of pollution 
H20  -  Extensions to Dwellings 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Ewelme Neighbourhood Plan policies;  
EP1 – Natural environment, wildlife and biodiversity 
EP7 – Parking 
EP8 – Conserving and enhancing heritage assets 
EP9 – Sustainable and high quality design 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Page 114

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2522/PEO
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P72/M1180


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. 
 
Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
In the case of this application South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) and the 
Ewelme Neighbourhood Plan comprise the development plan and the policies within it 
must be assessed in relation to the material considerations relevant to this proposal. 
 

6.2 The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows; 
 

- The principle of development. 
- Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 
- Impact on the character of the building and the Conservation Area. 
- Impact on the AONB. 
- Impact on ecology. 
- Impact on trees.  
- Impact on highway safety.  
- Carbon reduction.  
- CIL. 

 
6.3 The principle of development. 

 
Policy H20 of SOLP permits the extension to dwellings subject to a number of 
provisions. This policy establishes that the principle of an extension to a dwelling is 
acceptable. 
 
The provisions within Policy H20 relate to development in the Green Belt (not 
applicable in this case), adequate levels of parking, amenity space and providing that 
the proposal doesn’t conflict with other policies within the plan. 
 
These issues are dealt with separately in the following sections of this report.  
 

6.4 Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 
 
Policy DES6 of SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires that development 
proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on 
the amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative 
impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual 
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and 
external lighting.  
 

6.5 The single storey extension to the northwest elevation is limited in height, scale and 
bulk and is away from the boundaries of the site. I am satisfied the extension will have 
no material impact any nearby or adjacent property.  
 

6.6 The proposed garage replaces an existing structure. It is larger than the current building 
but in my view the distance from adjoining properties, in conjunction with its single 
storey height and the fact that it is located in the same position, ensures that it does not 
result in a materially harmful overbearing or oppressive impact to any nearby property.  
 
 
 

Page 115



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

6.7 The proposed alterations to the building include the erection of a balcony on the South 
West elevation. This will overlook the Ewelme Brook and towards the property known 
as The Brownings to the south. There is a significant distance between the balcony and 
the dwelling house at The Brownings and its private amenity area with large amounts of 
natural screening in the intervening space.  
 
I am satisfied that this in this instance the erection of a balcony in a built-up area will not 
result in a level of overlooking of nearby properties that would be materially harmful.  
  

6.8 Overall, the proposed development does not result in an unneighbourly impact in my 
opinion and accords with Policy DES6 of SOLP. 
 

6.9 Impact on the character of the building and the Conservation Area. 
 
Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
provides: 
 
In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, of 
any [functions under or by virtue of] any of the provisions mentioned in subsection (2), 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area. 
 
Section 72 (1) must also be considered alongside relevant policies contained in the 
NPPF.  
 
Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that in determining applications LPA’s should take 
account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of the heritage 
assets and putting them to viable use consistent with conservation, the positive 
contribution that conservation deals with the impact of a proposed development on the 
“significance” of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities including their 
economic vitality and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution 
to local character and distinctiveness.  
 
Paragraph 205 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This 
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
This is followed through into the development plan by policy ENV8 of SOLP which 
relates to conservation areas.  
 
More generally Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a high-
quality design subject to a series of criteria and Policy DES2 states that all new 
development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up the 
character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance and 
complement the surroundings. This is also reflected in Policy EP8 of the neighbourhood 
plan.  
 

6.10 The size and design of the single storey extension is in keeping with the form and 
character of the established dwelling. In my view it causes no material harm and 
conserves the character and appearance of the conservation area.  
 
 

Page 116



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

6.11 The proposed garage is larger than the existing building. However, it is a simple pitched 
roof building and single storey in height. It will be more prominent than the existing 
garage but in my view, it will not be intrusive and would not detract from either the 
street scene, the character of the existing building or the of the conservation area.  
 

6.12 The balcony on the southern aspect of the building will not be prominent in public view. 
It is simple in form and seen in the context of a residential property. I am satisfied that 
this will conserve the conservation area rather than detract from it.  
 

6.13 It is the proposed cladding of the existing house along with the extension that will 
create the biggest visual impact, both in terms of changing the character of the building 
but also that of the conservation area.  
 
The existing building is, in my view, at odds with the character of the area and the 
context of this historic setting of the conservation area.  
 
The introduction of a natural material in vertical panels on the building will bring it more 
in line with the rural character of structures within the village. It is proposed to allow the 
timber cladding to weather naturally and ultimately have a grey appearance.  This will 
soften overtime and I consider that in general this alteration will result in improvement 
to both the character of the building and the conservation area.  
 

6.14 I am of the view the proposed development taking the elements individually and as a 
whole will achieve the objectives of the heritage policies within the development plan 
and conserve the conservation area.  
 

6.15 Impact on the AONB. 
 
Policy ENV1of SOLP states that the highest level of protection will be given to the 
landscape and scenic beauty of the Chilterns and North Wessex Downs Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs): Development in an AONB will only be permitted 
where it is appropriate to the economic and environmental wellbeing of the 
area or promotes understanding or enjoyment of the AONB. 
 

6.16 This is a residential property within the established confines of the village.  
 
The development utilises natural and traditional materials, similar in appearance to 
properties in the wider village and the Chilterns in general.  
 
The new building works are limited in size in the context of the landscape. Taken 
overall I am of the view that the development conserves the special landscape of the 
AONB. 
 

6.17 Impact on ecology. 
 
The site is located adjacent to the Ewelme Brook and therefore Policy ENV4 of SOLP is 
relevant. It requires that development of land that contains or is adjacent to a 
watercourse must protect and where possible, enhance the function and setting of the 
watercourse and its biodiversity. As a last resort development should provide mitigation 
for any unavoidable impacts. This is reflected in neighbourhood plan policy EP1 
 
Policy ENV12 of SOLP states that the individual and cumulative impacts of 
development on human health, the natural environment and/or local amenity will be 
considered when assessing development proposals. In addition to the consideration of 

Page 117



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

the merits of development, proposals will be balanced against the adverse impact on 
amongst other things the natural environment from artificial light. 
 

6.18 The council's ecologist has considered the development and concluded that the 
existing garage is unlikely to support roosting bats. This also applies to the works of 
extension and alteration to the main dwelling. 
 

6.19 The element of the proposal that extends towards the Ewelme Brook is the proposed 
balcony. However due to its elevated nature and small footprint, it is unlikely to 
adversely impact the ecological value of the brook or the relationship between the built 
development and the water course.  
 

6.20 The council’s Ecologist is happy to support the application subject to two conditions. 
The first is to control any external lighting that may be proposed. In addition, the 
planning condition that requires no development to take place unless and until a water 
course protection strategy has been submitted to an approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. In conjunction with these conditions the proposal will accord with 
policy ENV4 and ENV12 as well as neighbourhood plan Policy EP1. 
 

6.21 Impact on trees.  
 
Policy ENV1 of SOLP states that South Oxfordshire’s landscape, countryside and rural 
areas will be protected against harmful development. Development will only be 
permitted where it protects and, where possible enhances, features that contribute to 
the nature and quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes, in particular trees (including 
individual trees, groups of trees and woodlands), hedgerows and field boundaries 
 

6.22 The council's tree officer has considered the impact of the development and in 
particular the replacement garage structure on adjacent trees. Given the garage 
building is located in the same position as the existing structure and the extensions of 
the house are at a greater distance from the trees, they have confirmed they have no 
objection subject to a condition that requires the protection of the trees during the 
construction.  
 
In conjunction with the proposed condition and the development shown on the plans I'm 
satisfied the proposal of course of policy ENV1 of SOLP. 
 

6.23 Impact on highway safety.  
 
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows: 
 
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  
 
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.  
 
Policy TRANS5 of SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway 
safety and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas. 
 
Policy EP7 of the neighbourhood plan sates that new residential development that 
gives rise to the need for additional parking will only be supported where adequate 
parking provision is made in line with the Oxfordshire County Council parking 
standards. 

Page 118



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

6.24 The proposal seeks to make alterations to the existing dwelling and the garage 
accommodation; however, no additional bedrooms are being created and the garage is 
to remain.  
 
The proposal is unlikely to result in any significant intensification of transport activity at 
the property.  No change is proposed to the existing access arrangements.  
 
The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network. 
 

6.25 Two planning conditions are however proposed which seek to ensure that the parking 
and turning areas are provided as per the plans submitted with the application and that 
the garage accommodation is retained as such unless planning permission is first 
granted.  
 
In conjunction with these conditions, I am satisfied that the development complies with 
Policy TRANS5 and EP7.  
 

6.26 Carbon reduction.  
 
Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development, including building conversions, 
refurbishments and extensions, should seek to minimise the carbon and energy 
impacts of their design and construction. Proposals must demonstrate that they are 
seeking to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape and planting. 
 

6.27 The scale of the development is small and the potential positions for both the extension 
and the garage are limited. The introduction of the timber cladding on the existing 
dwelling as well as its extension will improve the thermal efficiency and, in that respect, 
help to reduce the carbon and energy impacts of the property. I am satisfied that within 
the scope of this proposed development it will achieve the objectives of Policy DES8. 
 

6.28 Pre commencement conditions.  
 
There are two pre-commencement conditions proposed as part of this recommendation 
i.e. requiring details which need to be approved before the development can start. In 
this case these relate to a strategy for protecting the water course and the details of the 
tree protection to be approved and then put in place. In line with the legislation the 
applicant has agreed to these conditions in advance of the decision being issued.  

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The proposed extension and alterations to the house are in keeping with the character 

of the area and improve the appearance of the building in the context of the 
conservation area and the AONB. The proposed garage is limited in overall height and 
does not give rise to a significantly greater impact on the wider area or on nearby trees 
than the existing garage.  
 
The extensions, garage and balcony do not result in a harmful unneighbourly impact to 
any nearby property. 
 
In conjunction with the attached conditions local ecology and trees will be protected and 
the development as whole will accord with the development plan.   
 
 
 

 

Page 119



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 January 2022 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 That Planning Permission is granted subject to the following conditions;  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Standard conditions -  
1 : Commencement 3 years - Full Planning Permission 
2 : Approved plans  
 
Pre-commencement conditions –  
3: Watercourse protection strategy 
4 : Tree protection 
 
Prior to occupation conditions –  
5 : Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained 
6 : External lighting  
 
Compliance conditions -  
7 : Cladding to be natural in colour 
8 : Materials as on plan 
9 : No Garage conversion into accommodation 
 

 

Author:           Mr. P Bowers 

E-mail:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Contact No:    01235 422600 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 121

Agenda Item 12P21/S4280/HH



Appendix 2

Page 122



Page 123



P
age 124



P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes , 03/11/2021 Planning Committee

	8 P21/S1638/FUL - Land to the rear of 60-66 High Street, Chalgrove
	Appendices 1-2
	Elevations Existing drwgno 0250.pdf
	0250 Existing-Elevations

	Elevations Proposed drwgno 0275.pdf
	0275 Proposed-Elevations

	Floor Ground Plan Existing drwgno 0102.pdf
	0102 Existing-Ground Floor Plan

	Site & Location Plan Proposed drwgno 0003.pdf
	0003 Site Plan Proposed

	Appendix2 Floor Ground Plan Proposed.pdf
	0127 Proposed-Ground Floor Plan



	9 P21/S2860/FUL - Land between The Plough House and Frogmore, Stadhampton Road, Little Milton
	Appendices 1-2
	1 Location Plan drwgno LOC002
	2 Site Plan drwgno COO009002 03


	10 P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB - Three Horseshoes, Chinnor Road, Towersey
	Appendices A-G
	1 Appendix A Location Plan
	2 Site Plan Proposed drwgn 20-3210-100_P8
	2a Elevations Existing drwgno ENC-140720-9KK7-ELE
	Sheets and Views
	ENC_A1_Elevations


	2b Elevations Proposed drwgno 20-3210-102 Rev P12
	2c Floor & Roof Plan Proposed drwgno 20-3210-101 Rev P10
	Appendix C - Flooding photos
	Appendix D - Nominator - decision letter -  Three horseshoes 040121_Redacted
	Appendix E - Listing description
	Appendix F - Appeal decision from rep 40 LB - Stephen Chainani
	Appendix G - P21S1553PEM Officer Response


	11 P21/S4226/HH - 3 King's Road, Thame
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A
	2 Site Plan Existing drwgno KRT-005
	Sheets and Views
	005


	2a Site Plan Proposed drwgno KRT-105
	Sheets and Views
	105


	2b Elevations & Section Existing drwgno KRT-020
	Sheets and Views
	020


	2c Elevations & Section Proposed drwgno KRT-120
	Sheets and Views
	120


	2d Floor & Roof Plans Existing drwgno KRT-010
	Sheets and Views
	010


	2e Floor & Roof Plans Proposed drwgno KRT-110
	Sheets and Views
	110




	12 P21/S4280/HH - Yew Tree House, The Street, Ewelme
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2_1
	Appendix 2_2
	Appendix 2_3
	Appendix 2_4





